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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

TR|E

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”),
| would present the annual
results for the year ended 31 March 2008 to
our shareholders.
RAERRESE ([EB8]) ARR
REBE-ZEZN\FZA=T-HLFEZFE -

Dr. Lam Man Chan
MR E L

BUSINESS REVIEW

Turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2008 amounted to approximately HK$3,087 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 16% as
compared to last financial year. Gross profit margin
increased to approximately 4.8% for the year ended
31 March 2008 from approximately 4.5% of last
year. Loss for the year ended 31 March 2008 was
approximately HK$136.6 million and was mainly
attributable to the following factors:

—  decrease in fair value of investment properties
of approximately HK$124 million;

- exchange gain arising from the translation of
investment properties of approximately HK$46
million;

(the above two items resulting in net loss on
investment properties of approximately HK$78
million)

— exchange loss for the year of approximately
HK$40 million, mainly arising from translation of
bank borrowings denominated in RMB;

- impairment loss of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$5 million,
mainly regarding the Dongguan Ngai Lik
Industrial City, of which a sale and purchase
agreement has been entered into subsequent to
the balance sheet date;
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Chairman’s Statement ¥ & 3 &

— loss on disposal of plant and equipment of
approximately HK$5 million;

- redundancy payments of approximately HK$18
million for the lay off of certain workers and staff;
and

- deferred tax respecting the investment properties
of approximately HK$18 million.

If excluding the above factors, the adjusted loss from
the operations for the year would be about HK$8
million.

EMS Division

Turnover of the EMS Division decreased to
approximately HK$3,072 million, representing
a reduction of approximately 16% against the
corresponding figure of last financial year. In line with
the strategy to reduce low-profitability products, the
CD and other conventional audio and visual products
decreased from approximately HK$2,438 million for
the last year to approximately HK$1,033 million for the
year ended 31 March 2008, representing a decrease of
approximately 58%. The reduction was also attributable
to the decline in market demand for CD players and
market saturation for stand-alone DVD players. The
EBITDA of EMS Division amounted to about HK$95
million.

The Group’s strategy is to upgrade its products mix
and focus on high margin business. Sales of digital
products, mainly including panel display products,
digital photo frames and GPS products contributed
approximately HK$1,916 million which accounted for
approximately 62% of the Group’s total turnover for
the year ended 31 March 2008. However, during the
year ended 31 March 2008, the sales of panel display
products have been affected by the shortage of small
size TFT-LCD panels (particularly 7 inches to 10 inches)
and surging costs of certain panels during the peak
season period. Sales turnover for mobile division has
grown satisfactorily to HK$579 million and accounted
for to 19% of the Group’s turnover.
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Chairman’s Statement ¥ & ¥ &

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the United
States remained the EMS Division’s largest market,
despite the percentage of sales to the United States as
compared to the total sales of the Group decreased from
approximately 79% for the preceding financial year to
approximately 66% for the year ended 31 March 2008.
The sales revenue as brought by the procurement agent
of Wal-mart has declined substantially, accounted for less
than 20% of the total sales for the year ended 31 March
2008. European sales increased from approximately
HK$461 million for the preceding financial year to
approximately HK$622 million for the year ended 31
March 2008, which accounted for approximately 20% of
the total sales. The gross margin slightly improved for
the financial year ended 31 March 2008 following the
change in products mix notwithstanding the increase in
raw material and labour costs and certain redundancy
payments made to lay-off labours in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had in operation 14
production lines in Dongguan and 20 production lines
in Qingyuan. The Group has continued to consolidate
its manufacturing facilities to gain operating efficiency,
with an objective to maintain Qingyuan Industrial Estate
as the Group’s major manufacturing arm in the PRC. The
CAPEX for the year amounted to approximately HK$52
million, mainly for new moulding and additions in plant
and equipment.

Properties Division

The Group’s Properties Division comprises investment
properties in land use rights and factory buildings in
Fenggang, Dongguan, which help to earn recurring
income and/or realise potential capital appreciation.

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the decrease in
fair value on investment properties was approximately
HK$124 million (2007: increase of approximately HK$58
million) mainly attributable to the deterioration of the
market value of the properties. Prices of properties in
Dongguan have been experiencing notable declines
since the beginning of the year 2008, due to the austerity
measures on property market imposed by the Chinese
Government. The investment properties were reclassified
following the change of use of certain plants in Dongguan
to rental purpose and as a result of the Group’s effort to
consolidate its operation to Qingyuan.
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PROSPECTS

EMS Division

Looking forward to the year of 2008, it is expected the US
sub-prime crisis, record-high oil price and global inflation
will adversely affect the consumer spending, particularly in
the United States. Slowing export growth is being caused
by both economic weakness in the US and the Chinese
currency’s appreciation against the dollar, which makes
Chinese goods relatively more expensive.

With the drastic reduction in home audio business,
the Group will aggressively launch new products for
replacement and carry out cost reduction measures to
reduce overheads. The Group has developed a new
range of digital products which include digital photo
frames, portable televisions, iPod audio products, GPS
devices and low-cost notebooks. The Group has striven
to reduce the time-to-market of the new products under
development.

Several new models of low-cost notebooks, of 8, 9 and 10
inches screen size will be launched in the second quarter
of financial year 2009. Numerous features, like built in Wi-
Fi, bluetooth and web camera, would also be added to this
product line. New products of mobile internet devices and
UMPCs are also under development. Convergence of the
computer and electronics products is expected to be the
continuing trend.

The Group is currently operating under a challenging
environment as the price of raw materials including,
metals and plastics, rose following the increase in oil
price coupled with the rising operating costs in the PRC
resulting from the continuing appreciation of the Renminbi
(“RMB”) currency and upward pressure on wages and
employee benefits. In particular, the new PRC Labour
Contract Law which came into effect in January 2008, has
introduced numerous changes to the rights and obligations
of employers and employees, resulting in drastic impact
on human resources management and workforce cost
control in the PRC.
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Amid slowing demand due to the US slowdowns and high
oil prices, prices for the LCD/TFT panels have fallen since
the beginning of the year 2008. The average manufacture
prices of the mainstream panels are expected to be
stable in the second half of 2008. The Group will monitor
the procurement of panels cautiously to reduce the
carrying costs of such inventory.

The Group has vigorously downsized its operations
in Dongguan and Qingyuan and has ceased certain
component manufacturing operations that did not derive
profit contribution to the Group. The Group will shift all
operations of the Industrial City in Dongguan to Qingyuan.
The Group will continue to streamline and rationalise its
manufacturing operations with an aim to maintaining a
lean and competitive production platform in the PRC. The
Group has implemented a new ERP computer system
of ERP in stages since the beginning of 2008. The first
phase will be completed in the second quarter of financial
year 2009, which mainly covers the customer relationship
management (CRM). The main purpose of the CRM
system is to enhance the marketing operations and to
serve customers more effectively. We will commence the
second phase of the ERP implementation with particular
emphasis on business process improvement on the value
chain management.

On the sales and marketing front, the Group has
diversified its customer base and has reduced reliance
on volume business with large-scale retailers that failed
to yield reasonable contribution to the Group’s revenue in
the past. The mobile division is focusing on GPS devices
and marine audio products. The division is providing a
steady revenue stream to the Group and the Group will
further strengthen its financing and funding structure with
the aim to grooming it as an independent business unit.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2008, the Group’s
net worth decreased, mainly as a results of the decrease
in fair value of investment properties but the Group has
maintained its liquidity by the drawdown of certain term
loans from the Agricultural Bank of China in the PRC.
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Properties Division

The Group will pursue initiatives to enhance the value
of these properties and will consider different ways to
provide best returns to the Group and maximise their
potential value. One of the Group’s strategic initiatives is
to reduce the Group’s financial gearing and the finance
cost for the year under review increased further from
HK$37 million to HK$46 million. In July 2008, the Group
has entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
Independent Third Party for the sales of the industrial city
in Dongguan for a cash consideration of approximately
HK$230 million, subject to shareholders’ approval. Details
of the disposal was disclosed in the Announcement dated
9 July 2008. The remaining investment properties are or
will be rented out to earn recurring income.

As mentioned in previous annual reports, the Group has
changed the use of the production plants in Dongguan.
Currently, the gross floor area (“GFA”) of the investment
properties totalled to approximately 350,000 sqg.m.
of which approximately 60% are attributable to the
Dongguan Industrial City. In particular, the Group has
significant reduced the production capacity of Dongguan
Industrial City since 2007. Established in 1991, Dongguan
Industrial City has been in operation for about two
decades. The Group currently has 4 production lines
therein and has rented out approximately 36,830 sg.m. of
GFA to independent third parties.

Since the PRC Labour Contract Law became effective
in January 2008, numerous factories closed down
in Dongguan and this factor adversely affected the
demand of rental of industrial properties. As only a
small percentage of the Industrial City is rented out, the
Dongguan Industrial city is not optimally operated.

It has been our corporate strategy to realise the value of
the non-core assets to strengthen the financial position of
the Group. The Group expects considerable cost saving
to be achieved through the disposal of the Dongguan
Industrial City and consolidation of operations in
Qingyuan.
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Furthermore, the US sub-prime mortgage financial crisis
is affecting the global economy and the risk of recession
is apparently increasing. The operating environment
for the consumer electronic industry will continue to be
difficult and the Group will encounter challenges including
the appreciation of RMB and increase in minimum wages.
The Group has implemented measures, including the
upgrade of product mix and consolidation of production
operations, to maintain its long term competitiveness.

The Group will closely monitor the amount of funding
available and future investment requirements for the
coming year. The proposed disposal of the Dongguan
Industrial City, if approved by the shareholders of the
Company, will increase the available funding. Given the
difficult business environment, the Group will adopt a
prudent funding strategy and intends to close any funding
gap, if any, by reducing the capital investment, mainly on
fixed assets, or obtaining additional funds, by disposal of
non-core assets or other appropriate means. The Group
will also look into different business opportunities to
further diversify its business.

DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors did not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for year ended 31 March 2008 (2007:
Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Register of Members will be closed from 25 August
2008 to 27 August 2008, both days inclusive, during
which year no transfer of shares will be effected. In order
to ascertain the shareholders’ rights for the purpose of
attending and voting at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting which will be held on 27 August 2008 at 3:00
p.m., all transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrars in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited
at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 22
August 2008.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

The Group’s turnover decreased to approximately
HK$3,087 million for the year ended 31 March 2008,
a reduction of approximately 16% as compared to the
preceding financial year. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the reduction in business of low-
profitability products (mainly personal CD players and
stand-alone DVD players).

Sales of digital products accounted for approximately
62% of the Group’s turnover for the year ended 31
March 2008, representing an increase of approximately
67% over the preceding financial year, and became
the Group’s core product. Sales of home audio and
conventional DVD players contributed to approximately
33% of the Group’s turnover for the year ended 31
March 2008, a decrease of approximately 58% over the
preceding financial year.

Gross Margin

The Group continued to upgrade its product mix and
reduced the sales of CD audio products and stand-
alone DVD players. The gross profit margin improved
from 4.5% for the year ended 31 March 2007 to
approximately 4.8% for the year ended 31 March 2008.

Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year
ended 31 March 2008 totalled to approximately HK$110
million, representing a reduction of approximately
10% as compared to the preceding financial year. The
percentage of administrative expenses to total sales for
the year ended 31 March 2008 was approximately 3.6%,
representing a modest increase from approximately
3.3% for year ended 31 March 2007. The Group’s selling
and distribution expenses decreased to approximately
HK$24 million. The Group’s finance costs increased to
approximately HK$46 million as a result of significantly
higher average interest rates and increase in bank
borrowings, particularly in borrowings denominated in
RMB.

Property Investment

The decrease in fair value of investment properties,
which was debited to current period’s income statement,
amounted to approximately HK$124 million. It was
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mainly attributable to the general decline of the prices
of properties in Dongguan. The above decrease was
approximate to the increase in fair value previously
recognised in the income statement and credited to the
property revaluation reserve respectively. The decrease
in fair value involved no major cash outflow. The effect
on exchange rate movement amounted to HK$46 million.
As at 31 March 2008, the property revaluation reserve
amounted to approximately HK$17 million. Impairment
loss of property, plant and equipment mainly arose from
the Dongguan Industrial City of which a sale and purchase
agreement was entered into in early July 2008.

Other Operating Expenses

Included in other operating expenses was exchange loss
for the year of HK$40 million. If adjusting the above effect
on exchange rate movement for the year, the adjusted
exchange gain would be HK$6 million.

Net Loss on Investment Properties

It represented decrease in fair value of investment
properties of HK$124 million netting off the exchange gain
of HK$46 million arising from translation of investment
properties.

Working Capital Management and Dividend Policy

As at 31 March 2008, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of approximately HK$159 million (31
March 2007: approximately HK$167 million). The Group’s
average inventory turnover was about 53 days (31 March
2007: 44 days). The increase of the turnover period was
partly due to the inventory held for OEM orders of plasma
and LCD televisions to be fulfilled in the first quarter of
the financial year 2009 and increase in stock of certain
finished goods to be delivered to customers in the first
quarter of the financial year 2009. The Group’s average
trade receivables turnover was about 20 days (31 March
2007: 16 days).

Dividend Policy

During the year, an interim dividend of HK1 cent per share
was paid to shareholders of the Company. After careful
deliberation, the Group considered that the existing
dividend policy with a payout ratio of not more than 50%
on net profits will be subject to the Group’s overall funding
requirement.
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Financing and Capital Structure

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group’s
total debts stood at approximately HK$847 million
(31 March 2007: approximately HK$714 million), of
which approximately HK$308 million (31 March 2007:
approximately HK$285 million) were not repayable within
one year. The borrowings included outstanding balances
of certain term loan facilities from several banks. During
the year, the Agricultural Bank of China and Hongkong
Bank have provided certain term loans to the Group.
Following the increasing sales of digital products, the
Group also issued additional letters of credit to procure
the supplies of critical components like the LCD/TFT
panel displays and integrated circuits, and certain raw
materials. The increase in net debt was mainly due to
increase in trust receipt loans of approximately HK$47
million and bills discounted of approximately HK$25
million and increase in bank loans of approximately
HK$61 million. The new borrowings were used to
finance working capital and capital expenditure during
the financial year ended 31 March 2008. The Group’s
borrowings are primarily denominated in Hong Kong
Dollars, US Dollars and RMB and the Group will hedge
against currency exposure as well as interest rate
expense, particularly for the borrowings in RMB, as
appropriate. The Group entered into sale and purchase
agreement for the disposal of the Dongguan Industrial
City in July 2008, subject to the shareholders’ approval,
the net proceeds will be mainly used to repay bank
borrowings and mortgage loans attached thereto.

Capital Expenditure on Property, Plant and Equipment
Total capital expenditure for the year was approximately
HK$52 million (31 March 2007: HK$100 million), out of
which approximately HK$10 million was spent on the
construction of production plants, approximately HK$18
million for the acquisition of plant and machinery and
approximately HK$9 million for moulds investment.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net current liabilities of the Group as at 31 March
2008 was approximately HK$64 million (31 March 2007:
HK$34 million) and the current ratio was approximately
0.93 (31 March 2007: approximately 0.96).
Shareholders’ funds were decreased to approximately
HK$934 million (31 March 2007: approximately
HK$1,077 million), mainly due to decrease in fair value
of investment properties.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2008, certain of the Group’s assets
(including investment properties, property, plant and
equipment and land use rights) with the carrying value
of totalling approximately HK$454 million were pledged
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the
Group.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had capital
commitments contracted but not provided for of
approximately HK$6 million.

Treasury Policy

The majority of the Group’s sales and purchases are
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars or US Dollars. As
Hong Kong Dollars and US Dollars are pegged, the
Group had minimum exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuation in this respect. The labour costs and other
overheads incurred in the PRC were denominated
in RMB. The Group will closely monitor the overall
currency and interest rate exposures particularly for
the bank borrowings in RMB which was approximately
HK$306 million as at 31 March 2008. When considered
appropriate, the Group will hedge against currency
exposure as well as interest rate exposure.
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Employee Information

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had approximately
12,200 employees (2007: approximately 24,300).
The remuneration packages are generally structured
with reference to market conditions and the
individual qualifications. Salaries and wages of the
Group’s employees are normally reviewed on an
annual basis based on performance appraisals and
other relevant factors. Bonuses are normally paid
to the management, based on individual merits as
well as the results from the respective companies for
which the staff works. Benefit plans for Hong Kong
staff include a provident fund scheme and medical
and life insurance. The Group also maintains a
Share Option Scheme, under which options may be
granted to employees to subscribe for shares in the
Company. This Share Option Scheme is designed to
give employees an incentive to perform.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
is committed to maintain good corporate governance
standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to
enhance the shareholders’ value.

The Company has applied the principles and
complied with all the applicable code provisions
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
("Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) for the year ended 31 March 2008, save
for the deviations discussed below. The Board will
continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the
Company to ensure that business activities and
decision making processes are regulated in a proper
and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions (the “Model Code”). Having made
specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, the
directors of the Company have confirmed that they
have fully complied with the required standard as set
out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2008.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board is made up
of eight Directors, including five executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors
(the “INEDs”). The Directors are, collectively
and individually, aware of their responsibilities to
the shareholders. One of the INEDs possesses
appropriate professional accounting qualifications
and financial management expertise. The Directors’
biographical details are set out in the section of
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” on pages
23 to 26.

The Board members for the year ended 31 March
2008 and as at the date up to this report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Lam Man Chan (Chairman)
Ms. Ting Lai Ling

Ms. Ting Lai Wah

Mr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong

Mr. Lam Shing Ngai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Mr. Ho Lok Cheong

The Board conducts at least four regular Board
meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals
in addition to other Board meetings that are required
for significant and important issues, and for statutory
purposes. Appropriate and sufficient information
is provided to the Board members in a timely
manner to keep them abreast of the Group’s latest
development and thus assist them in discharging
their duties.

16  ANNUAL REPORT 2008

4

RABMEAH EFEmN\BESAEN
ERERARNTES R =BT
EX([BUFNTER) ZEFHRAR
R THREMBRAAZZEE - B
—RBUFRTEETRAEEZEXG
EREMBEREXNE EZZBREE
BN AFREDBE26EZ[EEZRSR
BEABENT]—FGe

BE_TTN\F=ZA=1T—HLFERH
EARESENHBAHMIETEKRER:

HITES
WX EE L (£/E)
TERZL
TEELL
BEREE
MAEER £

BUFHITES
REBRE
BIBERE
EES=Pisd

BREARBEREHIANEE BOMET
CHEMEZEEHR) EFEEFELE
TOREZEHE  ROB=EART—
R-BEEREREGEFESEERTR
ZER WERETHRAKEZENER -
EmBEMREEITHERE



Corporate Governance Report 1t % & )& R &

During the year, the Board has held four meetings
and the attendance of the directors at the Board
Meetings for the year ended 31 March 2008 is as
follows:

Name of Directors

R EFRDBINAEH  TRBE
—SEEN\FSASt-BLTREFLRE
EERERLEROT

Number of attendance/
Number of Meetings

HERE
EEHE SERE
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. Lam Man Chan MO+ 4/4
Ms. Ting Lai Ling TERZ L 4/4
Ms. Ting Lai Wah TEZEx+ 4/4
Mr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong BEREE 4/4
Mr. Lam Shing Ngai AR EE 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BAUEHITES
Mr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REBEE 3/4
Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy ERALE 4/4
Mr. Ho Lok Cheong OEI=Fi s 4/4
Board minutes are recorded in appropriate detail #EEZeeZ LB TEEMES M3
and draft minutes are circulated to all directors Qi EBEREETSEEE ~T— el

and committee members for comments before
being approved by the Board at the next immediate
meeting. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection by the
directors.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and
control of the Group and oversees the Group’s
business, strategic decisions and financial
performance. The Board delegates to the
management team the day-to-day management of
the Company’s business including the preparation of
annual and interim reports, and for implementation
of internal control, business strategies and plans
developed by the Board.

The Company has received from each of its
independent non-executive directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all
the independent non-executive directors to be
independent.
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The Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship with
each other except those disclosed in the director
biographical details.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, all directors
(including Chairman of the Board and Managing
Director of the Company) are subject to retirement
by rotation.

Code Provision A.4.2. of the Code stipulates that
all directors appointed to fill causal vacancy should
be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointment. On the
other hand, paragraph 4(2) of Appendix 3 of the
Listing Rules provides that such directors are to
hold office until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election at that meeting. As mentioned in the
annual report for FY2006, the Board decided to
leave the existing Bye-laws unchanged given the
inconsistencies in the Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company does not at present have any officer
holding the position of Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ”). Dr. Lam Man Chan is the founder and
chairman of the Company and has also carried out
the responsibilities of CEO. Dr. Lam possesses the
essential leadership skills to manage the Board
and extensive knowledge in the business of the
Group. The Board considers the present structure
to be more suitable to the Company because it can
promote the efficient formulation and implementation
of the Company’s strategies. The Board will review
the effectiveness of this arrangement from time to
time and will consider appointing an individual as
CEO when it thinks appropriate.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors of the Company were
appointed for a specific term of three years.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established two committees with
clearly-defined written terms of reference. The
independent view and recommendations of the two
committees ensure proper control of the Group and
the continual achievement of the high standard
corporate governance practices.

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee (the “RC ") comprises three Independent
non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Ng Chi Yeung,
Simon (Chairman), Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy, and
Mr. Ho Lok Cheong and one executive director,
namely, Mr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong.

The brief duties of the RC as per the terms of
reference were as follows:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of the directors;

2. to have the delegated responsibilities
to determine the specific remunerations
package of all executive directors; and

3. to review and approve compensation payable
to directors’ in connection with loss of their
office or compensation arrangement relating
to dismissal or removal of director.

The RC has every right to access to professional
advice relating to remuneration proposal if
considered necessary. The RC has begun to review
the remuneration policy for the Directors and senior
management.

The RC meets at least once a year. The RC has held
one meeting during the year and all members have
attended the meeting.
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Audit Committee

During the year, the Audit Committee (the “AC”)
comprises three Independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy
(Chairman), Mr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon and Mr. Ho
Lok Cheong.

The principal duties of the AC include:

1. monitoring integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and reports;

2. reviewing of financial controls, internal controls,
and risk management system; and

3. reviewing of the Company’s financial and
accounting policies and practices.

The AC is authorised by the Board to investigate any
activity and seek any information it requires within
its term of reference. It is also authorised to obtain
outside legal or other independent professional
advice and to secure the attendance of outsiders
with relevant experience and expertise if it considers
this necessary.

Reporting to the Board of Directors of the Company,
the AC is dedicated to review and supervise the
Group’s financial reporting process and internal
controls. The financial results for the year ended
31 March 2008 has been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The AC is reviewing the internal controls
of the Group.
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The AC conducts at least four regular meetings a
year at approximately quarterly intervals in addition
to other meetings that are required for significant
and important issues, and for statutory purposes.
The attendance of the directors at the Board
Meetings for the year ended 31 March 2008 is as
follows:

Name of Members

RREARBEEHIA AT BOMET
ZEMEHN BERZESEFELET
mxplE  KROB=EART—R-BE
“EEN\F-_A=t—HULEFE EFH
FEZFEgZZBRNT

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

HERY SERE

MEHA

Mr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REBEE
Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy ERALE
Mr. Ho Lok Cheong OES=Fis

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Audit
Committee had reviewed the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2007, the interim
report for the six months ended 30 September 2007,

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has not established a Nomination
Committee. The duties and functions of the
Nomination Committee recommended in the Code
are performed by the Board collectively with no
director being involved in fixing his/her own terms
of appointment and no Independent Non-executive
Director being involved in assessing his own
independence.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities
for the preparation of the financial statements of
the Group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standard. The Directors
also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

3/4
4/4
4/4
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The statement of external auditors of the Company,
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu & Messrs.
Graham H.Y. Chan & Co., about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on pages 39 to 41.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the total
remuneration of the Group’s auditors for statutory
audit services is HK$1,820,000. They also provided
non-audit services to the Group, which were
considered as insignificant assignments.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

SENSREEAE[N

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LAM Man Chan, aged 59, is the founder and
Chairman of the Group. He is responsible for the
formulation of corporate strategy and oversee direction
of the Group. He was graduated from the World Electric
Engineering College in 1969. He has over 30 years of
management experience and in depth knowledge of the
electronics industry. In 1994, Dr. Lam was granted the
Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong. Dr. Lam is a
committee member of Guangdong Provincial Committee
and Dongguan Regional Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”).
He is also a standing committee member of Qingyuan
Region Committee of the CPPCC. He is the husband
of Ms. Ting Lai Ling, the brother-in-law of Ms. Ting Lai
Wah and the father of Mr. Lam Shing Ngai.

Ms. TING Lai Ling, aged 53, is the co-founder of the
Group. She is responsible for marketing administration,
liaison with customers and production planning. She
has over 25 years of experience in the electronics
industry. She is the wife of Dr. Lam Man Chan, the sister
of Ms. Ting Lai Wah and the mother of Mr. Lam Shing
Ngai.

Ms. TING Lai Wah, aged 55, joined the Group in 1978,
is in charge of the policy formulation and the overall
operation of components manufacturing within the
vertical integrated production process employed by
the Group. She has over 25 years of experience in the
electronics industry. She is the sister of Ms. Ting Lai
Ling, the sister-in-law of Dr. Lam Man Chan and the
aunt of Mr. Lam Shing Ngai.
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Mr. YEUNG Cheuk Kwong, aged 45, joined the
Company in 2000. He is also the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. He
oversees the finance and accounting, legal affairs,
human resources, general administration, information
technology and corporate planning and development
of the Group. Mr. Yeung is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He holds a professional
diploma in accounting from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Yeung also holds a bachelor degree
from University of London, a postgraduate certificate
in Laws in City University of Hong Kong and a Master
degree in Corporate and Financial Law from The
University of Hong Kong. He has more than 15 years
of senior management experience and was previously
a director of a public listed company in Hong Kong.

Mr. LAM Shing Ngai (“Mr. Lam”) was appointed as
executive director of the Company with effect from 1
February 2007. Mr. Lam, aged 29, joined the Group
in 2003 as Assistant Product Manager and was then
promoted to Product Manager. Mr. Lam graduated
from McMaster University in Canada with a bachelor
degree in Electrical Engineering. He has had about
5 years experience in the electronics industry. Mr.
Lam is mainly responsible for the development of new
digital products and implementation of new strategies
to further strengthen the Group’s management. Mr.
Lam is the son of Dr. Lam Man Chan and Ms. Ting
Lai Ling. He is a nephew of Ms. Ting Lai Wah, an

executive director of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BYFHTES

Mr. NG Chi Yeung, Simon, aged 50, was appointed by the
Company in 1992. He is qualified as a solicitor in Hong
Kong, England and Wales, an advocate and solicitor
in Singapore, and a barrister in the Australian Capital
Territory. Mr. Ng is a consultant of Messrs. Rowland Chow,
Chan & Company, a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Ng holds
a bachelor degree from the Manchester Metropolitan
University in the United Kingdom and a master degree in
Chinese and Comparative Law. He is also an independent
non-executive director of two other publicly listed
companies in Hong Kong, namely, Kith Holdings Limited
and Winfair Investment Company Limited. He is a part-
time lecturer teaching at The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. TAM Yuk Sang, Sammy, aged 44, was appointed by
the Company in 2004. He graduated from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He is currently the President of a corporate strategy
and management advisory company. He is also an
independent non-executive director of another publicly
listed company in Hong Kong, namely, Kith Holdings
Limited.

Mr. HO Lok Cheong, aged 45, was appointed by the
Company in 2005. He is a partner of the law firm “Messrs.
Andrew Law & Franki Ho” of solicitors, with practice
focusing on corporate commercial, listing, merger &
acquisition and commercial litigation works. Mr. Ho
graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong,
studying Physics and Computer Science in 1985. Mr.
Ho further obtained his law degree from Manchester
Metropolitan University in the United Kingdom and
finished his Postgraduate Certificate in Laws in The
University of Hong Kong in 1996, subsequently was
admitted as a Solicitor of the High Court of the Hong
Kong SAR and a Solicitor of England and Wales. Mr. Ho is
also an independent non-executive director of a publicly
listed company, namely, Kith Holdings Limited.
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Mr. Li Wai Man
FEREE

Mr. Lam Man Chung
ML

Directors and Senior Management Profile EE R B E B A BB N
SENIOR MANAGEMENT BREBAS

Mr. LI Wai Man, aged 59, is the Business Director of
the trading arm of EMS division. He is responsible
for the sales and marketing, product design and
development of the Group’s audio electronics
products. Mr. Li has over 20 years of extensive
experience in this industry and was in top
management positions before joining the Group in
1997.

Mr. LAM Man Chung, aged 52, joined the Group
in 1981. Mr. Lam is the Operation Director of the
manufacturing section of the EMS division. He is
responsible for overseeing the production activities
in Dongguan and Qingyuan. Mr. Lam has over 20
years of experience in the electronics industry.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEEHEE

The Board presents their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
design, manufacture and sale of electronic products
and property investment.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2008 are set out in the consolidated income
statement on page 42.

An interim dividend of HK1 cent per share amounting
to HK$7,930,000 was paid to the shareholders
during the year. The Board does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in investment
properties and property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s authorised, issued and
fully paid share capital are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE COMPANY
The Company’s reserve available for distribution
to shareholders at 31 March 2008, amounted to
HK$538,424,000 (2007: HK$501,323,000).
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DIRECTORS =

The directors of the Company during the year and HRAREZEAREZFZAHER AR
up to the date of this report were: AIEENT :
Executive directors: HITES:

Dr. Lam Man Chan MR E+

Ms. Ting Lai Ling TEBRZT

Ms. Ting Lai Wah TEELL

Mr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong BEXEE

Mr. Lam Shing Ngai AR
Independent non-executive directors: BYFHITES :
Mr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon REBEE

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy BB A A

Mr. Ho Lok Cheong OE3=F e

In accordance with Article 86 of the Company’s RIEARADGRZAAIAMBIESEE @ 48 &
Bye-Laws, Mr. Ho Lok Cheong, Ms. Ting Lai Ling 4 TERBRZTREEXEEBRERR
and Mr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong retire by rotation, and HHEFEA® F{KE45E - HAERAE
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at [EiEE(F - HAFASZ EHEEZT -
the forthcoming annual general meeting. All of the

remaining directors continue in office.

None of the directors who are proposed for re- RREEREAEAS EREFI I ES
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting HImEAR AT IR —EXNBEELEE
has a service contract with the Company which is  CEERERIN FAIK LY RIEE 4 o
not determinable within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received from each of its ZAQARBREZES A ([ ETHEA)
independent non-executive directors an annual 3 13EWBMEZBIIENTESEHE
confirmation of his independence pursuant to By ZEEHERE  WRAMBEIIE
Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of #{TEEHABI AL o

Securities (the “Listing Rules”) and considers all

the independent non-executive directors to be

independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2008, the directors and chief
executive of the Company and their respective
associates had the following interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the

EERTHAZARY
EEZERRRE

MHERDRE

R-ZZFZENF=ZA=1+—8 ARAEE
% TRABEERREEAZHEALIRA
REAREBRBER (RARES LB EHH
([BH M HE GG ) EXVERATE T 2 &%)
2Bty RN REREFHEELRE
& 7 M B R P F3521f AR 7 < B RO it

Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SF0”)) as FTac# @ KRB LW ETAEFHETES
recorded in the register required to be kept by the X% ZRESFRI([RETA)AEMEARR
Company under section 352 of the SFO or which FIREE sm?é%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ B ([BE 2P l)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Z#z M KB
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in the Listing Rules (“Model Code”), to be
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”):
Number of
Number of Shares held underlying shares
frsRAEE (in respect of the Percentage
Capacity/ Long Short share options) of total
Name of Directors Notes Nature of interest position position  of the Company holding
56/ FAIRBERNEA
E3tg it BHIEE #e e (FEBRE) KREAL
Lam Man Chan (‘Dr. Lam") 1 Family interest 218,723,176 - - 35.15%
WXR(HEL]) RikEs
Ting Lai Ling (*Ms. Ting") 1 Family interest 278,723,176 - - 35.15%
TER(Txt)) iR
Lam Shing Ngai (“Mr. Lam") 182 Family interest and 278,723,176 - 700,000 35.24%
gk (%)) personal interest
FikERREAER
Ting Lai Wah 3 Personal interest - - 7,000,000 0.88%
TEE fEAES
Yeung Cheuk Kwong (“Mr. Yeung’) 4 Personal interest - - 4,000,000 0.50%

LR )

fAARLR

‘}
f
b
i)
il
s
JH

29



Directors’ Report € 2@ [ &5 £

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES (Continued)
Notes:

The interests are held by Goodchamp Holdings
Limited, which is 100% owned by Sinowin Inc. as
trustee of The Sinowin Unit Trust. The Sinowin Unit
Trust is a unit trust owned by HSBC International
Trustee Limited as trustee of a discretionary trust.
The discretionary trust was settled by Dr. Lam and
the discretionary objects of which are Ms. Ting
herself (the wife of Dr. Lam) and the family members
(including Mr. Lam) of both Dr. Lam and Ms. Ting.

The personal interest of Mr. Lam represents 700,000
underlying shares in respect of share options granted
to him during the year. The options are exercisable
at a subscription price of HK$0.690 for each share
during the period from 11 June 2007 to 30 June 2009.
The percentage of holding is calculated on the basis
(i) that the options are fully exercised; and (ii) the
number of issued share capital of the Company when
the options are exercised is the same as that as 31
March 2008.

The personal interest of Ms. Ting Lai Wah represents
7,000,000 underlying shares in respect of share
options granted to her during the year. The options
are exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.690
for each share during the period from 11 June 2007
to 30 June 2009. The percentage of holding is
calculated on the basis (i) that the options are fully
exercised; and (ii) the number of issued share capital
of the Company when the options are exercised is the
same as that as 31 March 2008.

The personal interest of Mr. Yeung represents
4,000,000 underlying shares in respect share options
granted to him during the year. The options are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.690 for
each share during the period from 11 June 2007 to 30
June 2009. The percentage of holding is calculated
on the basis (i) that the options are fully exercised;
and (ii) the number of issued share capital of the
Company when the options are exercised is the same
as that as 31 March 2008.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (Continued)

In addition to the above, certain directors have
non-beneficial personal equity interests in certain
subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company
solely for the purpose of compliance with the
minimum company membership requirements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008,
none of the directors or the chief executive of the
Company and their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein or which
were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

As at 31 March 2008, certain directors of the
Company have the interests in respect of options
to subscribe for the shares of the Company under
the Company’s share option scheme approved and
adopted on 23 August 2002. Details of their interest
in the share options of the Company are separately
disclosed in the section “Share Option Scheme”
below.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the heading
“Directors’ rights to acquire shares”, none of the
directors, their spouses or children under the
age of 18 had any right to subscribe for shares
of the Company, or had exercised any such right
during the year, and at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements and as disclosed under the
heading “Related party and connected transactions”,
no contracts of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by
the Group during the year are disclosed in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN FERERHEMA LT 2R RBERSD
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ERRRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER

PERSONS

As at 31 March 2008, so far as was known to the R-ZFETNF=ZA=+—0 JARAE

directors or chief executive of the Company, the FHTEAEMME U TAL (FEE

following persons (other than the directors or the ARBEFHITHAE) RAR AKX

chief executive of the Company) who had an interest HEBBRODTEBEREZESF KRBT GHE

or short position in the shares or underlying shares ~ 3361% A7 & 2 & ad filt A7 a0 81 2 # 25 0%
AN .

of the Company as recorded in the register to be & °
kept under Section 336 of the SFO are set out below:

Number of shares held
FrERhgE
Capacity/ Long Short Percentage
Name of shareholder Notes nature of interest position position of holding
RR4E i3 5/ Bnltg #e *e BREM
Goodchamp Holdings Limited 1 Beneficial interest 277,923,176 - 35.05%
nEn
HSBC International Trustee Limited 1 Trustee interest 278,423,176 - 35.11%
{EEARR
Sinowin Inc. 1 Trustee Interest 277,923,176 - 35.05%
EEAER
FMR Corp. 2 Investment manager 70,904,000 - 8.94%
REEE
Grandlink Holdings Limited 3 Beneficial interest 40,640,000 - 5.12%
nEn
Safeguard Trustee Limited 3 Trustee interest 40,640,000 - 512%
{EEAER
Basab Inc. B Trustee Interest 40,640,000 - 512%
EEAER

IX5BHERAA
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER

PERSONS (Continued)
Notes:

1. The details of this note are stated in note 1 of
the above section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures”.

2. The interests are indirectly held by FMR Corp. through
its 100% controlled corporations, namely, Fidelity
Management & Research Company and Fidelity
Management Trust Company.

3. The interests are held in the name of Grandlink
Holdings Limited, which is 100% owned by Basab
Inc. as trustee of The Basab Unit Trust. The Basab
Unit Trust is a unit trust owned by Safeguard Trustee
Limited as trustee of a discretionary trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, the
directors and chief executive of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who had an interests
and/or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme of the Company was
approved and adopted on 23 August 2002 (the
“Scheme”). The Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of ten years from the date of adoption.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company may grant
options to inter alia, directors and employees of the
Company or its subsidiaries to subscribe for shares
in the Company, subject to a maximum of 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time and the maximum number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted to any
one employee shall not be more than 30% of the
maximum number of shares in respect of options
granted under the Scheme. Options granted are
exercisable at any time for a period of ten years
from the date of grant. The subscription price of
the option shares shall not be less than the higher
of (i) the closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, (ii) the average
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange
for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a share.
Options granted must be taken up within 28 days
of the date of grant and a nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on each grant of option.

Details of the share option granted and accepted
under the Scheme and their movements during
the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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VALUE OF SHARE OPTION

The value of share option are calculated using
Black-Scholes pricing model. Share options granted
during the year were valued at approximately
HK$0.1055 based on various factors variables and
assumptions which included the following:

1. Since option pricing model requires input
of highly subjective assumptions, fair value
calculated are therefore inherently subjective
and the model may not necessarily provide a
reliable measures of share option expense.

2. Expected volatility was about 36.58%, which
represented the standard deviation, which is a
measure of price dispersion or variation. This
variable is the average of the square of the
difference between share prices and mean
price over a period of time.

3. The risk-free interest rate was 3.87% which was
estimated using Hong Kong Exchange Fund
notes.

4. Expected dividend vyield of 2% was based on
the historical trend of dividend payments.

All of the above-mentioned outstanding options
are unlisted. The total expenses of HK$1,583,000
for the year ended 31 March 2008 are recognised
in the Group’s income statement in relation to the
15,000,000 options granted by the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the
year attributable to the Group’s major customers and
suppliers are as follows:

Sales
- the largest customer
- five largest customers aggregated

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were less than 32% of the total
purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its
own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions (the “Code”). Having made specific
enquiry of all directors of the Company, the directors
of the Company have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2008.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the
directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 March 2008.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu and Messrs. Graham H.Y. Chan & Co. as
joint auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Man Chan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 July 2008
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B ZBERES

Deloitte.
=2

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
35/F., One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF
NGAI LIK INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to
117, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 March 2008, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for
the preparation and the true and fair presentation
of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal controls
relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

B

satis

GRAHAM H.Y. CHAN & CO.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
HONG KONG

Graham H.Y. Chan & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
Unit 1, 15/F., The Center

99 Queen's Road Central
Hong Kong
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our
audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors'
judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal controls relevant to the Group's
preparation and true and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of its
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group as at 31 March 2008 and of its loss and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
BEE e EER AT
Certified Public Accountants

I ES -]

Hong Kong, 22 July 2008
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

=AN < For the year ended 31 March 2008
IZS/ Ny =i L‘&J/]ﬁ HE_TT ) N\E-A=t+—HILEE
2008 2007
—EETN\E ZTTtE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kz TER THET
Turnover EXE 3,086,972 3,654,926
Cost of sales and direct expenses HEKAREZERY (2,940,216) (3,491,324)
Gross profit E7 146,756 163,602
Other operating (expenses) income, net Ef&4 (Fist) WA - 548 (46,462) 3,654
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERX (23,628) (36,967)
Administrative expenses TRAX (110,219) (121,859)
Other income HiA 5,549 6,370
Impairment loss of property, ERE T
plant and equipment ZREEE (5,245) -
Net (loss) gain on REME (B#E)
investment properties Yoz 58 (78,063) 57,519
Finance costs A A (46,102) (37,190)
Share of result of an associate i A= YNT e - 574
(Loss) profit before taxation BREET (E18) & A (157,414) 35,703
Taxation 18 20,863 (22,621)
(Loss) profit for the year AEE (B#E) &7 (136,551) 13,082
Attributable to: THIALRER :
Equity holders of the Company ANRRERFFEA (136,551) 13,082
Minority interests DER R - =
(136,551) 13,082
Dividend &)
— Interim, paid - BIRFHRE 7,930 7,930

(Loss) earnings per share - basic
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

GRBERAER

At 31 March 2008
RZZEZENF=A=+—H

2008 2007
—EENF —EEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
et FiExT T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment properties wE W 14 391,181 467,000
Property, plant and I E e
equipment 15 846,393 886,653
Land use rights b {5 FR#E
— non-current portion - FERE D 16 70,132 68,458
Interests in an associate NN o £ 17 - 1,641
Intangible assets mIVEE 18 38,089 33,742
Deposits for acquisition of BEYHE  BEREEUR
property, plant and THFERECET S
equipment and land
use rights 13,800 14,774
1,359,595 1,472,268
Current assets RENEE
Land use rights T A
— current portion - mEE D 16 1,653 1,578
Inventories "E 19 453,065 442,642
Trade and other B 5 - Efb AR
receivables KIERFIE
and prepayments 20 198,467 198,117
Taxation recoverable A] Ug [B] 5 78 9 47,494 47 494
Bank balances and cash RITEFRES 21 159,463 166,825
860,142 856,656
Current liabilities RENEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A FETBR X 22 307,869 385,896
Taxation payable FERIRHIR 76,997 75,395
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER
— due within one year - —F AT 23 534,710 426,371
Obligations under B E M AR
finance leases e
— due within one year 24 4,083 2,583
923,659 890,245
Net current liabilities REEEFE (63,517) (33,589)
Total assets less HEERREBES
current liabilities 1,296,078 1,438,679
T2£@EARA A 43



Consolidated Balance Sheet &2 8 EE B & &

At 31 March 2008

R-EENF=A=1+—§H
2008 2007
—EENF ZTTLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiiF FTHET T
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EHAMER
— due after one year - —F1&EH 23 304,370 281,146
Obligations under BhE AR A A
finance leases - —F &35
— due after one year 24 3,668 4,130
Deferred taxation PEIEFIE 25 50,059 72,524
358,097 357,800
Net assets AERE 937,981 1,080,879
Capital and reserves AR AN R b
Share capital AR AR 26 79,302 79,302
Reserves 5 854,659 997,557
Equity attributable to RRAERFTAA
equity holders of JE(h ez
the Company 933,961 1,076,859
Minority interests DY R = 4,020 4,020
Total equity EEmBRE 937,981 1,080,879

The consolidated financial statements on pages 42 to 117
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 22 July 2008 and are signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GARSEBHRE

For the year ended 31 March 2008
S ZE—TTN\GF=A=1T—HILEFE

Attributable
to equity
Property Share holders
Share Share  revaluation  Investment option Accumulated of the Minority Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits ~ Company interests equity
AR
S BRE BaREA  JEERR
BA  REEE  EfififE  RERE B REN EEER BE  ERE:
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000
TAL TAR TAL TAL TAL TAR TAL b TAL
At 1 April 2006 RZZENE
mA- 79,302 82,844 11,927 3,770 - 892,101 1,069,944 4,020 1,073,964
Surplus arising from SENFEE
revaluation of properties LB - - 8,258 - - - 8,258 - 8,258
Deferred taxation liabilty arising ~ EfIEEL 2
on revaluation of properties BRHEEE = = (2,725) = - = (2,725) = (2,725)
Decrease In fair value of MHENESREE
avallable-for-sale financial LRTHERYD
assets - - - (90) - - (90) - (90)
Net income (expenses) RRAERERER
recognised directly in equity ZEWRA (Fx) - - 5,533 (90) - - 5,443 - 5,443
Realised on disposal of HEAHHESHE
avallable-for-sale financial EEZR
assets - - - (3,680) - - (3,680) (3,680)
Profit for the year FRHET] - - = = = 13,082 13,082 - 13,082
Total recognised income and FRERARA
(expenses) for the year R (F%) 8% - - 5,533 (3,770) = 13,082 14,845 - 14,845
Dividend paid BftHe - - - - S0 (7.90) - 1)
At 31 March 2007 RITRLE
=R=1+-H 79,302 82,844 17,460 - - 897,253 1,076,859 4,020 1,080,879
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (186551)  (136,551) - (136551)
Recognition of equity-settled TNEREE L
share based payments O FGPANES - = - - 1583 - 1583 - 1583
Dividend paid EfRE - - - - S (7.9%0) -9
At 31 March 2008 RZZZN\E
=A=t-H 79,302 82,844 17,460 - 1,583 752,772 933,961 4,020 937,981

The property revaluation reserve represents the increase in
fair value, net of related deferred taxation charges, of the
properties transferred to investment properties at date of their

transfer.

MEEGREIEDERABRANERER
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

1\‘/\ fﬁ/ﬁ; Eﬂi

For the year ended 31 March 2008

—A=+—RHLEE
2008 2007
—EENFE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXETK
(Loss) profit before taxation BR#LAT (B518) i A (157,414) 35,703
Adjustments for: B THIEE/ELFHE
Interest income A BUA (4,462) (5,071)
Interest expenses MBS 45,623 37,012
Finance leases charges BMERANER 479 178
Share of result of an associate JE(LEE &N A 2 EE - (574)
Loss (gain) on disposal HEBE AT 2
of an associate BE () 359 (960)
Net loss (gain) on investment properties BEMEBE (=) T8 78,063 (57,519)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BER
plant and equipment w2 B8 4,866 686
Share-based payment Bz
expense 1,583 -
Gain on disposal of available HEAREESHEE
-for-sale financial assets 2 Wz (393) (2,741)
Depreciation of property, mE - BMEREEITE
plant and equipment 76,436 79,548
Amortisation of land o {5 P R 2 5E
use rights 1,653 1,452
Amortisation of | A E CHH
intangible assets 23,109 18,678
Impairment loss of property, M WEREEL
plant and equipment VEREN Ei=! 5,245 =
Exchange difference IE & =58 39,957 =
Operating cash flows HERESEHA L RE
before movements in ReEmE
working capital 115,104 106,392
(Increase) decrease & (Em) m
in inventories (10,423) 2,825
Increase in trade and B 5 - HibEWERR R
other receivables and TE A FRIFIE N
prepayments (350) (31,681)
(Decrease) increase B 5 R HAME R
in trade and (Rt 2>) 38 0
other payables (92,554) 22,249
Cash generated from operations KEEBHERS 11,777 99,785
Interest received B U F B 4,462 3,878
Tax paid EENE/EA - (1,532)
Tax refunded BERHIE - 1,439
NET CASH FROM REXBREZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFE 16,239 103,570
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HAERETMER

For the year ended 31 March 2008

HE-ET\F=A=t+—BLEE
2008 2007
—BBRNE —TTtE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFEE
Purchase of property, BEWME BELRRE
plant and equipment (43,358) (86,399)
Cost incurred in respect of BREMEESE ZBA
investment properties (862) (6,677)
Additions to land use rights 30 4 #0155 P e (3,402) (22,051)
Deposits paid for acquisition BEWE  WERZE
of property, plant and LA R = #b {55 FR A BT <2 A+
equipment and i E
land use rights (2,594) (14,774)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEREZHE2
plant and equipment Frf8 3k E 4,218 2,850
Addition of available-for-sale EmAEtEEeREE
financial assets (23,563) -
Net proceeds from disposal of HEAHEEEREEZ
available-for-sale Fr 15 3R I8 58
financial assets 23,956 15,893
Proceeds from disposal HEBE N F ZFTERIE
of an associate 210 20,000
Additions to intangible assets ENEFEE (27,456) (24,753)
Redemption of long-term BRI RHRITER
bank deposit - 23,400
NET CASH USED IN RETEZEEESFE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (72,851) (92,511)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Dividends paid [EENESS (7,930) (7,930)
Repayments of bank and BEETREMBEE
other borrowings (406,195) (542,514)
Repayments of obligations BEREBENCER
under finance leases (3,923) (2,290)
Interest paid EfFE (45,623) (37,961)
Finance leases ENRERNZER
charges paid (479) (178)
New bank and other EERZHERITR
borrowings raised Hi g E 513,400 548,089
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) METBAE(ERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES THER 49,250 (42,784)

RATEEBERA A
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For the year ended 31 March 2008

HE_TT\F=A=+—ALFE
2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETLHF
HK$’'000 HK$’000
T FHET
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BeRkBReLEEEE 2
CASH EQUIVALENTS WA FEE (7,362) (31,725)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REDZzEER
AT THE BEGINING OF THE YEAR HEZLEEER 166,825 198,550
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REZRZEER
AT THE END OF THE YEAR BEeEEMER 159,463 166,825
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCE OF CASH BekBELEEER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HEF2DHN
Bank balances and cash BITEEFEERS 159,463 166,825
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ek E KR

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the corporate information included in the
annual report.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars as the directors of the Company control and
monitor the performance and financial position of the
Company by using Hong Kong dollars.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries and associate are
set out in notes 37 and 17 respectively.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

As at 31 March 2008, the Group has net current liabilities
of HK$63,517,000. The directors of the Company
consider that the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis because the
Group has adequate funds to enable the Group to meet
in full its financial obligations as they fall due for the
foreseeable future after taking into account the future
plans of the Group and available banking facilities.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first
time, the following new standard, amendment and
interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
which are effective for the Group’s financial year
beginning 1 April 2007.

HKAS 1 (Amendment)  Capital Disclosures
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HK(IFRIC) - Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

HK(IFRIC) - Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

HK(IFRIC) - Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and
Impairment

HK(IFRIC) - Int 11 HKFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share
Transactions

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE—EEN\F=A=1+—AILFE

—REH
ARAD—FKRERERMR T2 EH
SERAT EROREEBAZHHE
BAR (TBXFH) L KRR 2R
BEEREEE LN ARERA
AEHAHE -

AR ARAEERAETEHNREER
RAZKRBRBARR - B BEHRRTS
B2

ARARREZER AT - HMHEQF R
ERAIZEEXEHC D AIENMEI7R

o

—
~

REEAE

NR-BENE=A=+—8 AEELEH
BB (EF 563,517,000 T - AR A=
ERE BARNERINAEBZ RKTE R
AEBSARTBMER  AEERTRER
BERHWELTEBITEVEEL  Fit
RAEMBHRRDAFELEELERR

FERFET R AEEFT BB B &S 2R

RAEE AEEEREATIHEES
SRR R 2 R - BRT KR ([#
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EAER
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BRMBRERAETR BBIA:RE
B (ARMBRERE BRMHREERE2R

ZEQ)-2EESH bk L]
Bk (ARMBRERE REfTETIA
ZEQ)-ZEBEW Z BT

BA(ARMHRERE PHE KRS
ZEQ)-2EBF10R RAE

Bh(ARMHEEERE BRMHREERE2R
ZEQ)-2BENR ~SERBERNR S

BROATXZEEERAA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position of the Group
for the current or prior accounting periods have been
prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior period
adjustment has been required.

The Group has applied the disclosure requirements under
HKAS 1 (Amendment) and HKFRS 7 retrospectively.
Certain information presented in prior year under the
requirements of HKAS 32 has been removed and
the relevant comparative information based on the
requirements of HKAS 1 (Amendment) and HKFRS 7 has
been presented for the first time in current year.

The Group has not early adopted the following new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The directors
of the Company are in the process of assessing the
potential impact and so far concluded that the application
of these standards or interpretations will have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the
Group.
HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements'
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs'
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements?
Puttable Financial Instruments
and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation'

HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations'

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations?

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments'

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession
Arrangements?

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes*

HKAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and

their Interaction®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
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For the year ended 31 March 2008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2008
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values, as appropriate and
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of the
Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes
in equity since the date of the combination. Losses
applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s
interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against
the interests of the Group except to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

Interests in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the investor has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets
of the associate, less any identified impairment loss.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An
additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods and services provided in
the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales
related taxes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered
and title has passed.

Income for provision of after sale services is recognised
when the services are rendered.

Rental and management service income is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Investment properties

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated
income statement in the year in which the item is
derecognised.

Transfer from investment property to property, plant and
equipment will be made when there is a change in use,
evidenced by commencement of owner occupation.
Property interests held under operating lease previously
classified as an investment property was accounted for
as if it were a finance lease and measured under the
fair value model. The Group continues to account for
the lease as a finance lease, even if subsequent event
changes the nature of the property interest so that it is no
longer classified as investment property.

4.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE_TT \F=A=+—HLFE

TESEE &)

W z5 HERR ()
EmZHENRERXTRERERE
FER °

RS R IR 2 WA Fe AR 75 B i 22
N

ﬁé&mﬂmﬁwkﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ANE SRR A

ERMEEZHNBUMATIREREEENKR
BEASEERFEAEAR - MERF
XNDReMEECRHTRAFHRARME
AARREUATEHRAEZEEREA
ERNEEREZEX -

REM=

RERERR REMERKA (BREE
MEREAEXH)FE -RBERERR
REMEDNEARFERAGE - REY
ERVEEHHELIZRELEEIIA
FEE L B 2R M B 1R

REMERLERAEREMETHA
HERKFEHRABEEZEELHERFTREL
i MEEIUEER - REEBUBREREL
2R EE R HEMERIRFE

HEERAECZETE) HRNERRE
ERZEFEAIIAZEAWER °

EAURARENECRECERARE
REMENERENE BERRB-R
BREHE Hﬁz%%%‘ﬂﬂ&\ﬁ
H&é%% YHERERERREA

ERAE $%@%m%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂé
HE - Wﬁﬁ&%i%ﬁﬁﬁ%%%*ﬁ

HEBREMITBIBRRENE -

BRAOLEZEBEER A A

%)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ZV_\

wIN

afRAME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction for production, which are stated at cost, less
any identified impairment loss. Construction in progress
is not depreciated until completion of construction and
the asset is put into intended use. The cost of completed
construction works is transferred to appropriate category
of property, plant and equipment.

Leasehold buildings and leasehold improvements are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the remaining
term of the leases or over their estimated useful lives and
after taking into account of their estimated residual value,
on a straight-line basis, whichever is shorter.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, other than leasehold buildings and
leasehold improvements, over their estimated useful lives,
on a reducing balance basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected to arise from the continued use of the
asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item)
is included in the consolidated income statement in the
year in which the item is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When an item of property, plant and equipment and
the related prepaid lease payments are transferred to
investment property carried at fair value, if the carrying
amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation at the
date of transfer, any resulting decrease in the carrying
amount of the property is recognised in profit or loss. If
the carrying amount is increased, to the extent that the
increase reverses a previous impairment loss for that
property, the increase is recognised in profit or loss. The
amount recognised in profit or loss does not exceed the
amount needed to restore the carrying amount to the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised.
Any remaining part of the increase is credited directly
to equity (property revaluation reserve). On subsequent
disposal of the investment property, the revaluation
surplus included in equity may be transferred to
accumulated profits. The transfer from revaluation surplus
to accumulated profits is not made through profit or loss.

Land use rights

Land use rights represent interest in land held under
operating lease arrangements and are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally
treated as a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of the
lease payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests
in land are accounted for as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development expenditure is recognised only if it is
anticipated that the development costs incurred on a
clearly-defined project will be recovered through future
commercial activity. The resultant asset is carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided to write off
the cost of development expenditure on a straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of three years.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and,
where applicable, direct labour and those overheads
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Cost is calculated
using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated
costs to completion.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 4 BE B Bff 3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated balance sheet when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset/liability and of
allocating interest income/expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts/payments
(including all fees on points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset/liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
of the asset/liability on initial recognition.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. At each balance
sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets, are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are
measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are
recognised in equity, until the financial asset is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is
removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the financial assets have been impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.

For other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

e default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 4 BE B Bff 3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period of 7 days to 30 days, observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or
loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity
investments will not be reversed in profit or loss
in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value
subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in
equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies
adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings and obligations under finance
leases are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and control of the financial assets. On derecognition
of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid or payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability
to the lessor is included in the consolidated balance
sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of
the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are charged directly to profit or loss.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet
date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the translation
of monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect
of which gains and losses are recognised directly in
equity, in which cases, the exchange differences are also
recognised directly in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date,
and their income and expenses are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised as a separate component of equity
(the exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
foreign operation is disposed of.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated income statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred taxation liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences and deferred taxation
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investment in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred taxation is calculated at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred taxation is
charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity,
in which case the deferred taxation is also dealt with in
equity.

Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for all its employees in Hong Kong. Payment
to the MPF Scheme is charged as expenses when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

In addition, the Group’s contributions to a local municipal
government retirement scheme in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) are expensed when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions while
the local municipal government in the PRC undertakes to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retirees of the qualified staff in the PRC.

64 ANNUAL REPORT 2008

4.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TTN\E=-A=1+—AHLLEFE

TESEE &)

B ()
EEVAEAERRNME AR CREME
AZERVERZEM TARR - EAKE
EEAZEHERZERZBONARERE
FENAIFARA AR BERE R 2 B TERS ©

EEBMEEREZ REENSEAALEERY
fEHIRET - WEHAERZ & 5 R BUR T
DAY [B] 2 2 55 B 40 & 2 I JOURL ©

EERBNZBERRAEEELEESR
BHRzERBERAE - BEEHBAGER
AR INBR AT A o HE IR FE AR R SR A AR
RaERHTRAFTAZEBER AR
BRATERBRAEDZHEE

3B R AE R R AR

AR BRIERE R E R SR
RERBELMBRERERIATERRZ
RHMERAEEE ((REEE]) - ”
BEdaHERIREERRERBE M=
BHREFERX ©

AKERSM—ARTEARLME ([F
B )) 375 T U AR AL HY SR IRET B - AR TS
REESIEHRRSE M ZF A H N FIER
o H B 75 T RO AR AN TR BRAE A
KR A B2 BRKES &R KR T
i e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Zr—|

wIN

afRAMH

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

For share options which were granted to employees of
the Group after 7 November 2002 and vested on or after
1 January 2005, the fair value of services received is
determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date and is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve).

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited, after vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will continue to be
held in share options reserve. In relation to share options
granted before 1 April 2005, the Group chooses not to
apply HKFRS 2 “Share-based payments” with respect to
share options granted after 7 November 2002 and vested
before 1 April 2005, no amount has been recognised in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of these
equity-settled shared-based payments.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies described in note 4, management makes various
estimations based on past experiences, expectations
of the future and other information. The key source
of estimation uncertainty that may significantly affect
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements is disclosed below:

Investment properties

Note 4 describes that investment properties are
measured using the fair value model. The fair values of
the Group’s certain investment properties are arrived at
on the basis of a valuation performed by independent
professional valuers. In determining the fair value, the
valuers have based on a method of valuation which
involves certain estimates. In relying on the valuation
report, the management has exercised its judgment and
is satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions.

Trade receivables

Note 4 describes that trade receivables are measured
at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. An impairment loss is recognised in profit and
loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired.

In making the judgment, management considered
detailed procedures have been in place to monitor this
risk as a significant proportion of the Group’s investment
for working capital is devoted to trade receivables.
In determining whether there is objective evidence of
impairment, the Group takes into consideration estimation
of future cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 March 2008
S E T N\F=A=1+—HLLFE

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6. EXRHMEDE
(a) Business segments (a) ¥¥%28E
For management purposes, the Group is currently HEEmMS AEBBERHAMEAR
organised into two operating divisions — electronics BERBK DR AEFRERB
manufacturing services business (“EMS business”) 2 ([EMSER |) R ERE -

and property investment.

These divisions are the basis on which the Group R ARNEFRRERTESNE
reports its primary segment information. By HE

The EMS business is engaged in design, EMSEB KBRS  RERMHES
manufacture and sale of electronic and electrical FREEREMZEL MYERE
products while property investment is engaged A EMERERREEERY -
in property rental and provision of management

services.
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For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TZT \F=A=1T—HILFE

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6. XBRHEDE (&)
(Continued)
(a) Business segments (Continued) (B o E(E)
Segment information about these businesses is ZEFEBCHBREMZINMT :
presented below:
Year 2008 —EENF
(i)  Consolidated income statement (i) #HEMER
EMS Property
business investment  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
EMS¥% MERE s RaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THL THT
Turnover e 3,072,456 14,516 = 3,086,972
Result E
Segment result GAEES (16,373) (70,562) (86,935)
Interest income FIEWA 4,462
Other rental income Hirfe KA 1,087
Finance costs BB RN (46,102)
Unallocated net AnEZ
expenses HX 38 (29,926)
Loss before taxation BRI R (157,414)
Taxation I 20,863
Loss for the year AEEHE (136,551)

ANNUAL REPORT 2008



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ak B M

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
(Continued)
(a) Business segments (Continued)

Year 2008 (Continued)

(ii) Consolidated balance sheet

For the year ended 31 March 2008
(S E—EENF=A=+—HIFE

EBRiEDE (&)

(a)

ES S N¢ )

—EENEFE(B)

(i) HEEEREX

EMS Property
business investment  Consolidated
EMSZ# MERE =a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET
Assets BE
Segment assets NREE 1,609,092 403,688 2,012,780
Unallocated assets KPP EE 206,957
2,219,737
Liabilities a5
Segment liabilities NBEAE 302,278 13,342 315,620
Unallocated liabilities ~ K2z &% 966,136
1,281,756
(ifi) Other information (iii) F A E#
EMS Property
business investment  Consolidated
EMSZ MERE =RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FTET
Capital expenditure AR 79,343 862 80,205
Depreciation and NEREH
amortisation 101,198 - 101,198
Loss on disposal of HEME - BERERE
property, plant and ZE#E
equipment 4,866 - 4,866
Net loss on investment ~ REME 7 HIEFH
properties - 78,063 78,063
Impairment loss of ME - BE REERERSSE
property, plant and
equipment 5,245 = 5,245

BROATXZEBEERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2008

BE-TTN\F=A=t—ALFE

6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6. X(BRMEDE(E)
(Continued)
(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) EXK2%E(E)
Year 2007 —ETLF
(i)  Consolidated income statement (i) #EMEER
EMS Property
business investment Eliminations ~ Consolidated
EMS¥7§ MERE it &5 FoNe)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THET THET THET
Turnover EEE 3,643,161 11,765 = 3,654,926
Result S

Segment result GEES 3,213 61,193 64,406
Interest income FIEWA 5,071
Other rental income Hp S WA 1,299
Finance costs BEKA (37,190)

Share of results of NG
associates 574
Unallocated income AOBE WA 1,543
Profit before taxation BRETA &R A 35,703
Taxation I (22,621)
Profit for the year REERH 13,082
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6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
(Continued)
(a) Business segments (Continued)

Year 2007 (Continued)

(ii) Consolidated balance sheet

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TZ \F=A=1T—HILFE

XX RED R (&)
(a) EBDEE)
—ZER+F(R)

(i) HEEEREX

EMS Property
business investment  Consolidated
EMSZ MERE =RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET
Assets BE
Segment assets NREE 1,633,939 479,038 2,112,977
Interests in associates ~ MEEE A F) 2 1,641
Unallocated assets AP EE 214,306
2,328,924
Liabilities BfE
Segment liabilities DEERE 367,872 24,737 392,609
Unallocated liabilities ~— KDz 8E 855,436
1,248,045
(iii) - Other information (iii) B E#
EMS Property
business investment  Consolidated
EMSZ MERE me
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TAET
Capital expenditure BEARY M 124,855 6,677 131,532
Depreciation and e R
amortisation 99,678 - 99,678
Loss on disposal of HEME - BER
property, plant and R EBE
equipment 686 - 686
Net gain on investment &% 2 WF 58
properties - 57,519 57,519
BROATXZEBEERAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2008

BE-_ZTT N\F=A=+—HLEE
6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6. EBERMEDHEE)
(Continued)
(b) Geographical segments (b) H& %
The following table provides an analysis of the TEDIEMS 2R A EE 8
Group’s sales by geographical market, irrespective ERHEL T BER ZEEHR
of the origin of the goods manufactured or services TEIR M 2 1o
rendered:
Turnover
=E 3
2008 2007
—EENF —TTAEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHTT
America FM 2,041,749 2,869,928
Europe B 621,821 461,226
Asia M 171,682 185,076
Others Hity 251,720 138,696
3,086,972 3,654,926
All the Group’s assets and capital expenditure AEBFEFNFELEZMBEEEREARR
incurred during the year are located in the Greater THBEERTEARLINME - AATEZ
China. Consequently, no geographical segment SMEfI IR DB EE 2 AT -
asset analysis is presented.
7. FINANCE COSTS 7 MERAE
2008 2007
—EENF ke o oS
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET FHET
Interest on bank and other BRAFANBRERZ
borrowings wholly RITREMEEZFIS
repayable within five years (45,623) (37,961)
Finance leases charges BEHEH B (479) (178)
(46,102) (38,139)
Less: Interest capitalised in B ERIBZEANE
construction in progress A - 949
(46,102) (37,190)
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(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

For the year ended 31 March 2008
(S E—EENF=A=+—HIFE

8. KREiAT (BE)EF

2008 2007
—ZENF —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT Fi&TT
(Loss) profit before taxation Br#iAT (E518) B A B kR
has been arrived at after (BT A) THI%IE
charging (crediting):
Directors’ emoluments EEMe
(note 10) (K15E10) 9,151 6,965
Contributions to retirement Hth 8 T 2 RIKER
benefit schemes of FTEIfEK
other staff 6,504 5,875
Other staff costs Hh 8 TRA 356,841 425,702
Total staff costs ST AR 372,496 438,542
Less: Staff costs capitalised B BIRAEREAEE
in development A
expenditure (21,043) (18,916)
Staff costs capitalised in BIRAERMMERER
construction in progress Ti2 (161) (1,000)
351,292 418,626
Amortisation of intangible B EE 2 #IHE -
assets, included in Bl A SHE K AN
cost of sales 23,109 18,678
Amortisation of land s R 2 B S
use rights 1,653 1,452
Depreciation of property, M - WEREEZITE
plant and equipment:
- Owned assets —BEEE 75,021 78,783
— Assets held under —~REMEROSEZEE
finance leases 1,415 765
76,436 79,548

RATEEMARD
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For the year ended 31 March 2008

HE_ZZ) N\F=A=1T—HILFE

8. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 8. BBiAT(EE) %F (H)
2008 2007
—ZEENF —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Auditors’ remuneration ZERT I & 1,820 1,350
Cost of inventories BRARSZ ZFEKA
recognised as expense 2,939,074 3,483,233
Exchange loss, net [ 5 E51E - 5 39,957 6,941
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEREEZ
plant and equipment B 4,866 686
Loss (gain) on disposal of HEBRE T 2BE ()
an associate 359 (960)
Gain on disposal of HEAHLESHEE L
available-for-sale Wz
financial assets (393) (2,741)
Operating lease rentals in BFEZEEHOES
respect of building
premises 3,730 4,414
Rental and management HeREERBUA - Mk
services income net of BEEERH7,015,000% T
direct expenses — T T4 : 8,091,000/ 7T)
amounting to HK$7,015,000
(2007: HK$8,091,000) (7,501) (3,674)
Interest income on: FEMBA -
- bank balances and deposits —RITEF RTFR (4,462) (3,878)
— long-term bank deposit —RERITER
(imputed interest income) (BEFBHEAN) - (1,193)
(4,462) (5,071)
Share of taxation of an PR & A R IE
associate (included in share (BIEREIL B & R R E4E)
of results of an associate) - 213

74 ANNUAL REPORT 2008




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 4 BE B Bff 3

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TZ \F=A=1T—HILFE

9. TAXATION 9. BIE
2008 2007
—E2ENF —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
The credit (charge) comprises: IR S (ZH) 8
Current taxation REEHIE
Hong Kong B
— Provided for the year — REERE - =
— Underprovision in —BEFEBETR
prior years - (932)
People’s Republic of China mEARLFERE ( [HE] )
(“PRC”) Enterprise EEFTEH
Income Tax
— Provided for the year — ANFEEE (530) =
— Underprovison in —BEFEBETR
prior years (1,072) =
(1,602) (932)
Deferred taxation credit REFIEE R ()
(charge) (note 25) (H1#25) 22,465 (21,689)
Taxation credit (charge) FEREER (ZH)
for the year 20,863 (22,621)
(a) Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 17.5% (2007: (a) BB TG TR E AT E &5 ER
17.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the AR E175% (ZEELF
- 17.5%) 5t & -
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9.

TAXATION (Continued)

(b)

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of
the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New Law”)
by Order No. 63 of the President of the PRC. On 6
December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued
Implementation Regulations of the New Law. From 1
January 2008, the tax rate is changed from 33% to
25% for certain subsidiaries under the New Law and
Implementation Regulations. The deferred taxation
balance has been adjusted to reflect the taxation
rates that are expected to apply to the respective
periods when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled.

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The Group appealed to the Board of Review
against determination made by the Inland Revenue
Department (the “IRD”) that some profits of certain
subsidiaries (“Subsidiaries”) for the years of
assessment 1991/92 to 1995/96 should be Hong
Kong sourced and subject to 50% of Hong Kong
Profits Tax (the “Tax Appeal”). The Board of Review
delivered its decision (the “Board’s Decision”) of
the Tax Appeal whereby it dismissed the appeal of
one of the subsidiaries (the “Said Subsidiary”) but
allowed the appeals of all other subsidiaries.
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(b)

BiIE (4

For the year ended 31 March 2008
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9. TAXATION (Continued)

(d)

(Continued)

The Said Subsidiary has lodged an appeal to the
Court of First Instance of High Court against the
Board’s Decision. By the judgement handed down in
December 2007, the Said Subsidiary’s appeal was
dismissed. The legal counsel of the Said Subsidiary
has made application for appeal of the said
judgment to the Court of Appeal of High Court (the
“Further Appeal”) and the Further Appeal is fixed to
be heard in October 2008.

For the years of assessment of 1996/97 to 2004/05,
the IRD has issued notices of assessment to
the Group regarding the taxability of profits
of these Subsidiaries. The Group had already
lodged objections against these assessments
(“Objections”).

Currently, an aggregate amount of HK$47,494,000
(31 March 2007: HK$47,494,000) has been paid
to the IRD in relation to the Tax Appeal and the
Objections and that amount has already been
included in the taxation recoverable.

The Commissioner of Inland Revenue has issued
a writ in the District Court (“the said proceedings”)
against the Said Subsidiary to recover a sum of
around HK$33,222,000 allegedly being the tax due
and payable by the Said Subsidiary for the years
of assessment 2000/01 to 2003/04. A hearing was
taken place at the District Court and a judgment
was delivered against the Said Subsidiary (“the said
judgment”).

The legal counsel of the Said Subsidiary has lodged
an appeal against the said judgement and the
hearing of the appeal is scheduled to be taken place
in October 2008.

Pending the outcome of the Further Appeal and the
Objections, the Group has made provision for the
potential tax liabilities in its consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 March 2008 in accordance with the
IRD’s determination. Based on the legal advice, the
directors of the Company considered that there was
no material underprovision of tax liabilities as at 31
March 2008.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-TTN\F=-A=1+—ALEFE

9. BiE (&)

(d)
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R—ANKRFE NEFE-ETN
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TAXATION (Continued)

The taxation credit (charge) for the year can be
reconciled to the (loss) profit before taxation per the
consolidated income statement as follows:

For the \/ear ended 31 March 2008

9. BiE (&)

REZZHER (X H) ER
BrAA (B1E) ad cSEROT

ZA=+—HILFE

MralmRZ

2008 2007
“ETN\F —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET F&T
(Loss) profit before taxation BREiAT (B18) %A (157,414) 35,703
Tax credit (charge) at domestic szliiﬂlﬁﬁ FHIEA7.5%
income tax rate of 17.5% ZETLF 17.5%)
(2007: 17.5%) SFEBERAE (1) 27,547 (6,248)
Tax effect of share of DB E AR EE 2T
results of associates wa - 100
Tax effect of expenses TR 2 BB E
not deductible for tax purpose (9,112) (10,607)
Tax effect of income not HARMBA 2 RIBE
taxable for tax purpose 9,574 10,064
Underprovision in prior years AIEREEETTE (1,072) (932)
Tax effect of tax losses RERTIBBE BB E
not recognised (6,091) (3,329)
Utilisation of tax losses B AL ARER ZFRIBEE
previously not recognised 187 320
Income tax at BEBEREAE CFER
concessionary rate (6,311) (4,391)
Change in opening FUEERIBEEZE
deferred taxation liabilities 9,341 -
Effect of different tax REMAEEREE 2
rates of subsidiaries operating (EPNSFSENEL RS-
in other jurisdictions 2R 2 (5,205) (9,230)
Others Hh 2,005 1,632
Taxation credit (charge) FARERRE (ZH)
for the year 20,863 (22,621)
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10.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors
of the Company were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2008

10. EEE <
ENSENEAAREZEZHMEFENT

For the year ended 31 March 2008
(S E—EENF=A=+—HIFE

RE-SE\F=A=t-AIEE

Mr. Mr. Mr. Mr.
Dr. Ms. Ms. Lam Yeung Ng Chi  Tam Yuk Mr.
Lam Man Ting Ting Shing Cheuk  Yeung, Sang,  Ho Lok Total
Chan  Lailing LaiWah Ngai Kwong Simon  Sammy  Cheong 2008
#wXE  TEBR  TEBE MEAR BExX  R5E #BEE GRS A
Bt zt zt bt pikes x4 bk FE ZBENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEr FEr  FEr  FEr  FEx  FET  TET TER TER
Fees e 780 - - 390 520 180 180 120 2,170
Other emoluments Hite
Basic salaries and EX%e
allowance RZE 1,300 1,300 960 566 1,560 - - - 5,686
Contributions to RINER
retirement TRl
benefits schemes 12 12 12 12 12 - - - 60
Share-based payments IR REE
PANES - - 739 74 422 - - - 1,235
Total emoluments Mo 2,092 1,312 1,711 1,042 2,514 180 180 120 9,151
Year ended 31 March 2007 BE-_ETtHE=A=+—RHLEFE
Mr. Mr. Mr. Mr. Mr.
Dr. Ms. Ms. Lam Hui ~ Yeung  NgChi Tam Yuk Mr.
Lam Man Ting Ting Shing King  Cheuk  Yeung, Sang, Ho Lok Total
Chan LaiLing LaiWah Ngai Chun  Kwong  Simon Sammy Cheong 2007
g TER  TEE  HEAR FER  BEX  REE  ERE A%E Bz
Bt a2t at i ik ik bk b REZEBLE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEr TEr TAr TEr TEx Tz FEr AT TAL  TEx
Fees ne 780 - - 60 - 400 180 180 120 1,720
Other emoluments Hitie
Basic salaries and HA%e
allowance REE 1,300 1,300 960 87 336 1,200 - - - 5183
Contributions to BB
retirement ATEIfR
benefits schemes 12 12 12 2 12 12 - - - 62
Total emoluments Hens 2,092 1,312 972 149 348 1,612 180 180 120 6,965
BROATXZEBEERAA
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11. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2007: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note
10 above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2007:

two) were as follows:

11.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TZT \F=A=1T—HILFE

EEME

ERSERUSRERFMALZS =8 (=
ERLEF  ZR)RARAEST WELZ
eI A EXHFEI0ZKEER - 88 T/
BALT(ZETLF MB)ZMEWOT

2008 2007
—EBENF —ET+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET THET
Basic salaries and allowance B & KOERL 2,948 2,289
2008 2007
—EENF —ET+F
Number of Number of
employees employees
BEZE EE8H
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 1 -
12. DIVIDEND 12. BE
2008 2007
—EENEF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Dividends recognised as FAEERBD RIS
distribution during the year:
Interim dividend paid: Bk EAR% B B AR 1 (L
HK1 cent (2007: HK1 cent) (ZZTEF : 15)
per share 7,930 7,930

No final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 has
been proposed by the directors of the Company.
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13.

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share is
based on the following data:

For the year ended 31 March 2008

13. B8R (G818 B&F
BREX(BR) BNHE TSR E -

2008 2007
—ZETN\F e S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
(Loss) profit for the year RAGIERTTE AR
attributable to equity EEREER) TR
holders of the Company SHEERER(ES)
and earnings for the BNz B8
purposes of basic (loss)
earnings per share (136,551) 13,082

Number of ordinary shares

LakEE
2008 2007
—EENEF —ETLEF
Number of ordinary shares AESRER () BT
for the purposes of 2 EBREE
basic (loss) earnings
per share 793,016,684 793,016,684

The computation of diluted loss per share for 2008 does
not assume the exercise of the Company’s outstanding
share options since their exercise would result in a
decrease in loss per share. No diluted earnings per share
has been presented for 2007 as the exercise price of the
Company’s options was higher than the average market
price of the Company’s share.

Ela?‘iéﬁﬁZlK’AﬂZﬁ‘ﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%AE
BRERERRL ERGE_TTN\F
BRETFERRTERRBRECET
E-ARARABREZTEERALR
ANz FOMERSR  EitlE275)
—ERLEEREERT -

BROATXZEBEERAA
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For the \/ear ended 31 March 2008

ZA=Z+—HLFE
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REYE
HK$'000
FET
FAIR VALUE DNFE
At 1 April 2006 RZZEERFWMA—H 186,358
Additions NE 6,677
Transfer from property, plant BREAME  BELKRE
and equipment 198,746
Transfer to property, plant HEEYE - KERZE
and equipment (5,300)
Transfer from land use rights EEE T AR 23,000
Increase in fair value of ‘B 2 A FERN
investment properties 57,519
At 31 March 2007 RZZEZ+F=A=+—H 467,000
Additions NE 862
Transfer from construction in progress & A EETE 1,382
Effect of exchange rate movements EREH) & 46,187
Decrease in fair value of JEWHE 2 NFERD
investment properties (124,250)
Net loss on investment properties KEMEBETFE (78,063)

At 31 March 2008 R_ZEENF=A=+—H 391,181

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties of
HK$172,500,000 at 31 March 2008 have been determined
by the directors of the Company with reference to the
consideration agreed in respect of disposal of those
properties after the balance sheet date. Details of
the disposal are set out in note 36. Accordingly, fair
value loss of HK$108,865,000 was recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
March 2008.
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair values of the Group’s remaining investment
properties of HK$218,681,000 at 31 March 2008 and of
all the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2007
have been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried
out on those dates by B.l. Appraisals Limited, a firm of
independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group. B.l. Appraisals Limited has appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of
similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuation
was arrived at by adopting the Investment Approach
by taking into account the current rent passing and the
reversionary income potential of the property.

The investment properties are situated outside Hong
Kong and represent interests in industrial plants in the
PRC, which are under medium-term leases.

For the year ended 31 March 2008

14. REWE (&)

REBEBZHHEEVER_ZZNF=
A=+— EZQ%@ZMMO%%E&
RNEBFMEREMER_ZTLF =8
=+ —HZAFEEA— %ﬁ$%l1
H%LZﬁ*A§$$¥m@%ﬁ%m

T&mﬁ@ RZEB B ZEES

%MImﬁﬁﬁm@T%ﬁm #E %
&ﬁ%%ﬁ%m&ZﬁM%%ﬁﬁZ@
B BEAMEDNRMREENLEEEE A
LS KFERMEZ FRBWANENEFTE -

UREBURIIMLER 2 REYEELR
Bz IXEmE#zm HATHEET
HA e

R
%
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE_TT \F=A=1T—HILFE

15. M1 BEKRE

Leasehold
Medium-term improvements,
Medium-term leasehold office
leasehold buildings ~ Construction Plant equipment,
buildings in outside in Motor and furniture,
Hong Kong Hong Kong progress vehicles machinery and fixtures Moulds Total
BEME
fig# 5B HAZE
inEEz  MMEZ R
hHEERT  PERERT RIR ot BERKE R&E &R h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR T T T TEn TEn T TEn
CosT AAE
At 1 April 2006 RZTE EMA-A 16,298 425,820 33,246 41543 646,321 203,585 288,364 1,665,177
Additions hE - 5077 19,361 2,864 28,020 20,066 24,714 100,102
Transfer from ERERANE
investment
properties 5,300 - - - - - = 5,300
Transfer to BRZREANR
investment
properties - (195,190) - - (1,025) (80,285) - (276,500)
Increase in fair ~ BEZRENEZ
value upon ATEEN
transfer to
investment
properties - 2,594 - - - - - 2,594
Transfers 25 - 43175 (43,441) - - 266 - -
Disposals if 5 - - - (2,678) (15,921) (27 (15) (18,641)
At31 March 2007 H=FZtE
=A=1+-A 21,598 281,476 9,166 41,729 657,395 143,605 313,063 1,468,032
Additions hE - 879 9,536 1,343 18,177 13,011 8,941 51,887
Transfer to ERTRANE
investment
properties - - (1,382) - - - - (1,382)
Transfers a5 - 17,155 (17,320) - 158 7 - -
Disposals if5 - - - (3,824) (22,956) (352) (1,875) (29,007)
At3tMarch 2008 RZZENE
=f=t-A 21,598 299,510 - 39,248 652,774 156,271 320,129 1,489,530
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

15. #3% - BE K &E (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2008
 E_TT\F=A=1+—HILEFE

Leasehold
Medium-term improvements,
Medium-term leasehold office
leasehold buildings  Construction Plant equipment,
buildings in outside in Motor and furniture,
Hong Kong Hong Kong progress vehicles machinery and fixtures Moulds Total
BENE
g ET A NS
inE#Ez  MMEZ R
hERERT DHHEET ARIE fE  HERME k%8 BE Ch
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR TR T T TEn TEn TR TEn
DEPRECIATION ERBE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2006 RZTENEMA-R 7067 43502 - 23,886 231,506 100,718 188,011 594,690
Provided for ERRER
the year 402 7,575 - 3,717 37,923 13,497 16,374 79,548
Transfer to BEERE
investment kS
properties - (29,870) - - (237) (47,647) - (77,754)
Eliminated on HEHH
disposals - - - (2,439) (12,659) 4 (3) (15,105)
At 31 March 2007 RIZELE
=A=t-A 7,469 21,207 - 26,004 256,533 66,564 204,382 581,379
Provided for the year ERRER 472 7,199 - 3118 37,243 10,730 17,674 76,436
Impairment loss EERRE
recognised Fa - 5,245 - - - - - 5,245
Eliminated on hEHH
disposals - - - (2,350) (16,355) (196) (1,022) (19,923)
At 31 March 2008 R-TENE
=f=t-H 794 33,651 - 25,992 277,421 77,098 221,034 643,137
CARRYING VALUES KEE
At 31 March 2008 RZZTNE
=A=1-H 13,657 265,859 - 13,256 375,353 79173 99,095 846,393
At 31 March 2007 RZZEtE
=A=t-H 14,129 260,269 9,166 16,505 400,862 77,041 108,681 886,653
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment other
than leasehold buildings and leasehold improvements are
depreciated on a reducing balance basis at the following
rates per annum:

Motor vehicles 20%

Plant and machinery 5% — 20%
Office equipment 10% - 20%
Furniture and fixtures 10% — 20%
Moulds 15% - 25%

Leasehold buildings and leasehold improvements are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the term of the leases, or at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements 10%

As mentioned in note 36, the Group entered into
an agreement to dispose of one of its premises in
Dongguan, PRC. The directors conducted a review of
those assets to be disposed of and determined the
recoverable amount of those assets which are classified
under property, plant and equipment including leasehold
buildings and leasehold improvements and land use right
based on fair value less costs to sell with reference to the
consideration of the disposal. Accordingly, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$5,245,000 was recognised by
the Group.

Included in the carrying values of property, plant and
equipment of the Group at 31 March 2008 is an amount
of HK$11,856,000 (2007: HK$8,252,000) in respect of
plant and machinery held under finance leases.

Included in construction in progress is net interest
capitalised of approximately HK$Nil (2007: HK$949,000)
during the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2007, the fair values of the
properties transferred to investment properties at the date
of transfer had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that date by B.l. Appraisals Limited, a
firm of independent qualified professional valuers not
connected with the Group. B.l. Appraisals Limited has
appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.
The valuation was arrived at by adopting investment
approach and taking into account the current rent
passing and the reversionary income potential of the
tenancy.
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For the year ended 31 March 2008
\F=A=+—HILFE

bz — 3
BHE T

15. #1% - BEKRE (&)

LithE BERRBEIEELFR
T W2 5 T4 S0 T 1R 0 R B0
THIEFIRYE -

qE 20%

B M 25 5% —20%
N 10% —20%
N E 10% —20%
BEA 15% —25%

HERBTREENEREIRBEZH
EFHATINFMERABRENE -

HEBF 2%
HEWEERE 10%

FANHI FES6RTI - NERE R ek EE
FRURPERE RN EXCERNZS
BTHEZEE  WREBEAFERESE
HERBAFEZHERABEEZF
ECGIEDE BELRE 2REER
FREEMERER L ERE) 21K
EE% - Wit AREEERREEED
5,245,000/ JT °

R_ZEENFZA=1+—8 ' A&EEZY
¥ BERZEZEAESEARERY
# A {E1811,856,000/ 7T (_7 T F
8,252,000/ 7T) Z M= M 1 2%

ERIRBREFRERNbZAEFEY
THT (=TT 1 949,000/ L) ©

BE_ZTZLF=-A=+—"HLFE R
BROVEBRERENEZINEZIRF
BEEA - FREAREVEBEELBLA
BREXGEMTRBEBRFIHEERA
AR &% BFTETTEERE - RABEERF G
BERARBEREERIINE AR
BZBUMEEECER BRAMGENS
BEAMZEEKERBOZHERBAE
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16. LAND USE RIGHTS

The land use rights of the Group are held under medium-
term lease in the PRC and amortised over the lease term

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE_TEN\FZA=+—HLEFE

16. T b {F FH#E
REBR B2 + 3 S L
A NIRRT A EE50F# 65 o

of 50 years.
HK$'000
FAT
COST BRAME
At 1 April 2006 RZZEZRFHA—H 72,502
Additions NE 22,051
Increase in fair value upon transfer BREREMEZ N TEEN
to investment properties 5,664
Transfer to investment properties BREREME (24,333)
At 31 March 2007 \ZEELF=A=+—H 75,884
Additions NE 3,402
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZNF=ZA=+—H 79,286
AMORTISATION W
At 1 April 2006 R-ZEZTRFMNA—H 5,729
Provided for the year FEREE 1,452
Transfer to investment properties EERSIREE (1,333)
At 31 March 2007 RZZEZ+F=A=+—H 5,848
Provided for the year FERE 1,653
At 31 March 2008 RZEENF=A=+—H 7,501
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2008 R-ZZEZENF=A=+—H 71,785
At 31 March 2007 RZZEZ+EF=A=+—H 70,036
2008 2007
—EENE —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTAET FAT
Analysed for reporting BImER DN
pUrpoSes as:
Non-current assets FERBEE 70,132 68,458
Current assets RENEE 1,653 1,578
71,785 70,036

BROATXZEBEERAA
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17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-TT \G=-A=1+—HILFE

17 REERT 2R

2008 2007
—EENE —ETEEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Unlisted investment, at cost FLETIRE - BEAE - 2,340
Share of post acquisition FER R EE
losses, net of dividends HRE WA E
received - (699)
- 1,641
Details of the Group’s associate are as follows: REBBEE QAR ZFBAT :
Percentage of
Nominal nominal value
value of issued of issued share
Place of Place of ordinary capital held
Name of associate  incorporation operation share capital by the Group Principal activity
AEERE
BRTERR BRTRAAEE
BennER MM UEE  EEME RAmE 2B TEEHK
2008 2007
“EENFE  ZETtE
Sun Bright Samoa PRC US$1,000,000 - 30% Trading and
Investments EET t 1,000,000%7 manufacturing of paints
Limited (operation ceased since
BRREERAA January 2007)
BEEREERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2008
ETT\F=A=1+—HILEFE

17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 17 REEE DR 2% ()

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the interests HE_ZZ N \F=ZA=1T—HLEFEH
in an associate were disposed of at a consideration M- NEE AR E1,282,000% 7T i & R
of HK$1,282,000, resulting in a loss on disposal of i ARl a0 E A H B E1E359,000
HK$359,000. The consideration was settled by cash BT -BEAREDNREEARNEERRR
consideration of HK$210,000 after offsetting the advance 1,072,000/ 7T 1& LA 3 © ¥ 1210,0007%
of HK$1,072,000 to the Group. TG ©

The summarised financial information in respect of the AREBBERRZHMBHBERHTIWNT

Group’s associate is set out below:

2008 2007
S\ -TTLH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET F&T
Total assets BERLE - 5,481
Total liabilities BERE - (12)
Net assets BEFE - 5,469
Group’s share of net assets REBEEEEE QA
of an associate BEFE - 1,641
Turnover S - 12,019
Loss for the year FEFE - (1,440)
Group's share of results of REBEEEEE AT
an associate for the year FEERE - (432)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 47 4 BE B ff 3

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TZT \F=A=1T—HILFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE

Development
expenditure
BRAY
HK$'000
FAET

COST BRAME
At 1 April 2006 RZZETRFMNA—A 90,298
Additions NE 24,753
At 31 March 2007 R-EZE+E=FA=+—H 115,051
Additions NE 27,456
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=ZRA=+—H 142,507

AMORTISATION ey

At 1 April 2006 RZZEZFHA—H 62,631
Provided for the year FERAE 18,678
At 31 March 2007 R_ZEE+F=A=+—H 81,309
Provided for the year FERE 23,109
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=A=+—H 104,418

CARRYING VALUES BREIE
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=A=+—8H 38,089

At 31 March 2007 R-EZE+F=RA=+—H 33,742
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19.

20.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
S ZE T \F=A=1+—HILFE

INVENTORIES 19. 78
2008 2007
—EIN\F It S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Raw materials [ 291,436 290,590
Work in progress M 43,137 64,984
Finished goods ZpY i 118,492 87,068
453,065 442,642

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

20. E5 - HEWERA R AN FE

2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiBT FAT
Trade receivables Z SRR 173,037 163,847
Bills receivable e I% - 6,655
173,037 170,502

Other receivables and Hfth fE U BR 3K
prepayments SSELNE S 25,430 27,615
198,467 198,117

Customers are generally granted credit terms of letter of
credit at sight or open accounts from 7 days to 30 days.
Longer credit periods are granted to several customers
which have long business relationship with the Group and
strong financial position.

BEP—RUREREAEREP A ETR
5 R RAHSERRIREK7HE30R -
BNERASERZYRHAEBHELE
FBRRRBRZEFEAEER TERE
ZRERE -
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills
receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts at the

balance sheet date:

For the year ended 31 March 2008

Hm =)
BHE_==/\

F=ZA=+—HLEFE

20. 5 HttBWRF R AN RRIE (F)

REER BEHRUEFEEKER (1

BRRERBR) AR DA T

2008 2007

—EEN\F —ETLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET T

Current — 30 days IR —30H 162,366 154,228
31 - 60 days 31—60H 8,909 14,005
61 - 90 days 61—90H 679 206
Over 90 days 908 A E 1,083 2,063
173,037 170,502

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not

EBBREERECESEREERN 2RE

impaired is as follows: AW :
2008 2007
—EIN\F It S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERx TET
1 - 60 days 1-60H 140,282 86,625
61 - 90 days 61-90H 679 206
Over 90 days 90H I £ 1,083 2,063
142,044 88,894
Trade and bills receivables denominated in currencies NABEB TR YIS NSt

other than functional currency of the relevant group

entities are set out below:

BEzEHREERALEREEHINNT -

2008 2007

—EBEEN\F —ETLF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Chinese Renminbi AR 4,980 1,948
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21.

22.

For the year ended 31 March 2008

2 TTNF=A=

T—HILFE

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 21. RITEERES
Bank balances and cash comprise short-term bank RTBEFRESBEINHRAE=EAK
deposits with maturity of three months or less and cash KT 2RBETFERAEAEEFE 2R
held by the Group. The short-term bank deposits carry D o MAISRTFERIETHME0.4%%E3.2%
interest at market rates which ranges from 0.4% to 3.2%. B
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. EFRHEMEMNERM
2008 2007
—E2ENF —ETtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
Trade payables B SR 148,677 194,981
Bills payable ERNEE 29,276 12,126
177,953 207,107
Other payables H A FE A BR 3K 129,916 178,789
307,869 385,896

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills

payables at the balance sheet date: RO ¢
2008 2007
—EENEF —ETLEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
Current — 30 days R —30H 152,924 166,874
31 - 60 days 31—60H 18,096 21,962
61 — 90 days 61—90H 2,202 2,176
Over 90 days 90B AL 4,731 16,095
177,953 207,107

BROATEZEEBERAR
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 22.

Trade and bills payables denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities

23.

are set out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TZT \F=A=1T—HILFE

K E b FE A BRK ()
LAEEE%I BEEZUIESR
BEBHRNERRENREIHIIWT

AN B A

2008 2007
“ETN\F —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TAET FHAT
Chinese Renminbi AR 18,725 18,597
Euro BT 613 370
19,338 18,967
BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 23. RITRHEMEER
2008 2007
—ETNEF —TTLEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Carrying amount repayable: EERKAEE :
Within one year —F A 534,710 426,371
More than one year, but not —FRERER
exceeding two years 78,390 145,146
More than two years, but not MFERE=ZFRK
exceeding three years 205,980 105,417
More than three years, but = FRENFA
not exceeding four years 6,667 30,583
More than four years, but not MEZRERFER
exceeding five years 6,667 -
More than five years RAELE 6,666 =
839,080 707,517
Less: Amounts due within one year W R—FREEZNRIEA -
and shown under current WHERE AE
liabilities (534,710) (426,371)
Amounts due after one year R—FREE 2 FIE 304,370 281,146
Secured HHEA 350,226 187,728
Unsecured 43K 488,854 519,789
839,080 707,517
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23. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

The bank and other borrowings of HK$202,267,000 carry
interest ranging from Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate
plus 0.6% to 1.3% (2007: 0.6% to 1.0%) per annum,
HK$305,747,000 carry interest ranging from 5.7% to
7.5% per annum, subject to repricing every three months
based on the interest rate prescribed by the People’s
Bank of China for the applicable loan period, and
HK$331,066,000 carry fixed interest rates ranging from
3.0% to 6.1% (2007: 5.7% to 6.9%) per annum. Certain
assets of the Group have been pledged to secure certain
bank and other borrowings of the Group (see note 32).

The Group’s borrowings denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities
are set out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE—EEN\F=A=1+—AILFE

23. RIOKEMEE (B)

BT REAMEEP - 202,267,000/ 7T IR
BBRITRERBENFEFE0.6%E1.3%
—EELF06%%1.0%)FEFE
305,747,000/ TLIEF F| 5. 7% £ 7.5%5T
BB EEREZEARERBEARR
TZRERBREFBZAHERETERE
%.331,066,0007% 7T 1% & & F | £3.0% =
6.1% (ZZZELF : 5.7%%6.9%) st E 7
B AREBETEECKIFEALAERESE
FRTREMEER 2R (RHES2) °

NEBEBER NGB IAINE R
BEzARBEEESRFIMT :

2008 2007
—EENE —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiExT FAT
Chinese Renminbi AR 305,747 169,000
Japanese Yen H - 1,722
305,747 170,722
BOITXEEEFRA A
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24. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TZT \F=A=1T—HILFE

24, BEBLEIE
Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
A RERE EAREESRE
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE C—ITTLF ZEBENF "TTLHF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHET TET FHT
The maturity of the BEMRNAE
obligations [EmEARAT -
under finance leases
is as follows:
Within one year —FR 4,344 2,877 4,083 2,583
More than one year, —FREMEA
but not exceeding
two years 2,806 2,877 2,717 2,639
More than two years, WEZBRFR
but not exceeding
five years 964 1,630 951 1,491
8,114 7,384 7,751 6,713
Less: Future finance W RRBEER
charges (363) (671) - -
Present value of lease My#EZREAE
obligations 7,751 6,713 7,751 6,713
Less: Amounts due W ER—ER
within one year BB ZIA
shown under WHIERED
current liabilities BfE (4,083) (2,583)
Amounts due after BER—FRERZ
one year HIE 3,668 4,130

The average lease term is 4 years. Interest rates
underlying all obligations under finance leases are fixed
at respective contract dates at Hong Kong Inter-bank

FHOREFHANSF - FRERERARE
MAZANEXARNZITNEHEE  REE
$RAT Rl R A7 S 00 FI K082 K Bl E 4+ Fl

Offered Rate plus 0.8% per annum and fixed interest rate &3 [E -

of 3% per annum.
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25. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE—EEN\F=A=1+—AILFE

25. IEIERIR

The following are the major deferred taxation liabilities

(assets) recognised and movements thereon:

Accelerated

tax Intangible
depreciation assets
MERERE BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000

T REHRR? T BETHER K (AE)
S ECTE

Revaluation
of
investment Tax
properties losses Others Total
REMFELR HEEE Efth #

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

b T T AL AL FhL
At 1 April 2006 AEEAEMA-B 33430 3,058 16,823 (4371) (830) 48,110
Charge to equity for the year ERERATERTR - - 2,725 - - 2725
Charge (credit) to consolidated FRESRENRER
income statement for the year s GrA) (2,409) (106) 18,982 1617 3,605 21,689
At 31 March 2007 i ey
=t+-H 31,021 2,952 38,530 (2,754) 2,775 72,524
Charge (credit) to consolidated ENELANER
income statement for the year s GrA) (4,692) 380 (9,101) (3,278) 3,567 (13,124)
Change in opening deferred AR = EEH
taxation liabilities arising EETHE
from change in the tax rate BECE = = (9,341) = = (9,341)
At 31 March 2008 RZZENE
=R=t-H 26,329 3,332 20,088 (6,032) 6,342 50,059

At the balance sheet date, the Group had unused tax
losses of HK$137,738,000 (2007: HK$85,276,000)
available for offset against future profits and those can be
carried forward indefinitely. Deferred taxation assets have
been recognised in respect of HK$34,468,000 (2007:
HK$15,748,000) of such tax losses. No deferred taxation
assets have been recognised in relation to the remaining
HK$103,270,000 (2007: HK$69,528,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

REER AEBEBBARABREEBRE
137,738,000 L (Z T T + &F :
85,276,000/ jT) + AJ ft 3K 85 K 2K & F
RERBEE -REHBEEERZS
i 78 E51834,468,0008 7T (ZE T4 ¢
15,748,000/ 7T) M T AR - AR A&
& B AT FEE - B &R 103,270,000
BT (ZZEZLF ¢ 69,528,000/8 ) 2
BEEMNE @ WEEEIARELHEEE -

BROATXZEBEERAA
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26.

27.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-TTN\E=-A=1+—HALEE

SHARE CAPITAL 26. B
Number of shares Amount
BRHEE -}
HK$'000
FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each SREME0. 108 T
2T
Authorised: JERE
Balance as at 1 April 20086, RZZEZRFWOA—AH -
31 March 2007 —ETH+FE=A=1+—H
and 31 March 2008 ;r—ZEZENF=A=+—H 1,200,000,000 120,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRER
Balance as at 1 April 2006, RZZETRENA—AH -
31 March 2007 —ETt+FE=Ff=+—H
and 31 March 2008 rF=EENF=ZA=+—H 793,016,684 79,302
SHARE OPTION 27. BRE

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted on 23
August 2002 by the Company (the “Scheme”), the
Company may grant options to inter alia, directors and
employees of the Company or its subsidiaries, for the
purpose of providing incentives, to subscribe for shares
in the Company, subject to a maximum of 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time
and the maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any one employee shall not
be more than 30% of the maximum number of shares in
respect of options may be granted under the Scheme.
Options granted are exercisable at any time during the
option period, a period to be notified by the Board to
each grantee at the time of making an offer which shall
not expire later than 10 years from the offer date. The
subscription price of the option shares shall not be less
than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares on
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price on the Stock Exchange for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the
nominal value of a share. Options granted must be taken
up within 28 days of the date of grant and a nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on each grant of option.

Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their
exercise date are deleted from the register of outstanding
options.
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BEARARR_ZEZE_FNA=-1+=H
PR BERER & ([5181)) - AA A
AR (EFEE) AR EMNB AR 2
EEREERLEREERSSD  BILE
EARBEARBRGD  EHRZBEARQF
TEEBEITRAZ10%  MER—ZES
ARERCEREMIRZBRMNEE &
LS RBREZTEFTE L BRER
FEROREEE 230% ° FriE 2 B
7 A 1A B A AR EA R N R AT B P 7 DA T 466
ERHERESENREZARBAE
EBEAETSBABHA BT TF o
TEERER CBRORBEDSFS LRI
TZ®EE : ()VRORE D A BER A
ZWHE: (IVEOHREEEL BB R
BR 5B EHR 2 FHUTE ki)
ROEE - i 2 BREERE L B
FBET28H M B 4N - I 7B A B A BE AR B B
RENEREZMIBTEENRE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2008
S ZE T \F=A=1+—HILFE

27. SHARE OPTION (Continued) 27. BIRE(E)
Outstanding share options which were granted under the BEFER-_ZTEZENF=ZA=+—HE
Scheme as at 31 March 2008 are as follows: BREEERITEZBREDT

No. of

options
Exercise Outstanding granted Outstanding
price at during at
Participants Date of grant Exercise period per share 1 April 2007 the year 31 March 2008

RZEENE ER RIBENE
mA-A gEY  ZA=t-A

2EE RHAH TEER  SRORE MATE BREHE AT
HK$
BT

Director

Bz

Ms. Ting Lai Wah 22 May 2007 11 June 2007 to 30 June 2009 0.690 - 7,000,000 7,000,000

TEELT “ERFRACTZA “ERLERAT-RE
“EEAFRA=TA

Mr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong 22 May 2007 11 June 2007 to 30 June 2009 0.690 - 4,000,000 4,000,000
BREELE eSS e el = ZESHENAT-HE

ZEENERR=TH
Mr. Lam Shing Ngai 22 May 2007 11 June 2007 to 30 June 2009 0.690 - 700,000 700,000
WEBREE e i ey “ZZtERAT-RZ

ZEENERR=1A
Others
Hftr
Employees 22 May 2007 11 June 2007 to 30 June 2009 0.690 - 3,300,000 3,300,000
&3 S Y e = “ZZtE AT-RZ

“FENENA=TH

15,000,000 15,000,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TZT \F=A=1T—HILFE

27. SHARE OPTION (Continued) 27. B (E)
Outstanding share options which were granted under the BEFER-_ZEZTELF=A=1+—AHE
Scheme as at 31 March 2007 are as follows: BHARTEBRENT :

Exercise Outstanding ~ Cancelled Outstanding

price at during at
Participants Date of grant Exercisable period per share 1 April 2006 the year 31 March 2007
R-BERE RZBEtE
mA-H ZB=t-AH
28% RHEH IR SROEE MATE R WA
HKS
AT
Director
g2
Mr. Yeung Cheuk 10 July 2003 2 August 2003 to 2.475 4,700,000 (4,700,000 -
Kwong 28 February 2008
BEXLE “ERRELATH “22=F/\AZR%
“ZT\EZA-1/\A
Others
Bt
Employees and 10 July 2003 2 August 2003 to 2475 22,000,000 (22,000,000) =
other participant 28 February 2008
EERAMASRE “E2R=ELATH “2Z=F\AZRZ

“2EN\E-A-TNA

26,700,000 (26,700,000) =
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27.

28.

SHARE OPTION (Continued)

At 31 March 2008, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Scheme was 15,000,000,
representing 1.89% of the shares of the Company in
issue at that date.

Option granted under the Scheme are exercisable at any
time during the option period with no vesting conditions.

These fair values were calculated using the Black-
Scholes pricing model. The inputs into the model were as
follows:

2008
Weighted average share price HK$0.1055
Exercise price HK$0.69
Expected volatility 36.58%
Expected life 1 year
Risk-free rate 3.87%
Expected dividend yield 2.00%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the share option which were estimated using
the Company’s share price over the time period of 252
trading days before the date of grant.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$1,583,000
for the year ended 31 March 2008 in relation to share
options granted by the Company.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into finance lease
arrangements in respect of assets with a total capital
value at the inception of the leases of HK$4,961,000.

27.

28.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE BT N\F=A=t+—HILFE

B AR A (48)

R-ZBENEF=A=+—8  BREFEHE
BREERTEZBERERS R ZBRHE
B A15,000,0008% - HHE RN A2 BRZHE
ZBETRD21.89% °

RIBET B AT IR 2 BB R AT R B AR A
Rz AR RTTARE - B EEB R -

ZERNFEDEREAR - FAHEE
BAFHE -BAMRAZBHAREZNT -

=%
hniEFEHRE 0.1055/%8 7T
T E 0.6978 7T
T8 Hi R 1@ 36.58%
T8 HA g iR 4 EARR 14
2 2 b A1) 3 3.87%
TEHI R B & 2.00%

FHRIE AR 2 E SRR -
ZE LR E AR R B RO R K E B
AI252{E%2 5 B I A 2 B8 A ET -

AEBRBEZE _TEZEN\F=A=1+—H
FTEEERARRER L ZERERR
i Sz #8581 583,000/% T °

TEFRERZ
FRAREREEFTUREBROZH
ZEBRERAVHERZEREAGHRR
4,961,000/ 7T °

RO TEXEEBERAQ A
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29,

30.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of trustee.

In addition, the Group’s contribution to a local municipal
government retirement scheme in the PRC are expensed
as fall due while the local municipal government in
the PRC undertakes to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retirees of the
qualified staff in the PRC.

The retirement benefit cost charged to the consolidated
income statement represents contributions payable to the
schemes by the Group at the rates specified in the rules
of the schemes.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the borrowings disclosed in note 23, obligations
under finance leases disclosed in note 24, cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves
and retained earnings as disclosed in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As a part of this review, the directors of
the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the management of the Group, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt, if necessary.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
2007.
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30.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
\F=A=1T—HILFE

bz — &
BHE T

R AR AE A ET &
AEBREMBRBRAZAERERR
VREEEE B ZEENAREAE

HleEERHH  BAKBZEENFRE

e - 7R 5 B Bt A B T BT AR KT
ZERTNELRIIERS - MPEE
MBFEEHEEAERERE RARRRF
BzaEBRENREE ZRERM -

iR e W & 2 RAKR A AR A F8 AN R 9E
BRI E A TE L RE S 2 K

EXABRER
AREBECZEAERE A A BAGHKHERE
mEERRETE  BRASEZERET
BELE 2% MARRMBERADR -

REBZEARERIZAE (BERF23
T BEZEE W4 E 2 MmER
E&E) RekREEEEE RARQ A
BaBEAEHED (BREEEERE

BEFMBERZEZHTRA - BERRE R

) o

ARAREZTERRIEANRE - (ERRE
Z%%'$Eﬂ§$%%§$%$&%@
BEXMMw AR REAEEEERE 2
EE AEESERBMFTR)RERS
BT - BEED  BIHEHELE
ERAEHFH N HEBEARBEL
Y-
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(c)

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies
and methods adopted, including the criteria for
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis
on which income and expenses are recognised, in
respect of each class of financial asset, financial
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in
note 4.

Categories of financial instruments

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE_TT N\F=ZA=1T—HILFE

3. €®IA
(a) FTEEFTHE
REHEREE 2RABERA

BETACRAZIEGHABRR
NA(BREERER  EEERK

X ERERE) 2 F BN EARE

(b)y EMITAEDE

2008 2007
—E2ENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets THEE
Loans and receivables B FEWGRIE
(including cash and (pEReRAE
cash equivalents) Z@EER) 350,300 354,448
Financial liabilities EHEE
Amortised cost B SRS 1,146,949 1,093,413

Financial risk management objectives

The management monitors and manages the
financial risks relating to the operations of the Group.
These risks include market risk (including currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the Company’s
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures.

(c) BRAKEERE
EEEEEREEAASEHEBEE
BHEBZVEERR - ZERKREE
™% & B (@%f%ﬂﬁ&ﬂfﬂ
®)  EERRERBESER
ﬁ%a@&w$%%ﬂmuﬁ%
BB S A R AU TT o

ARBIFFHEBZTSRABRIER K
ArERRZ AL EEMEL -

RO TEEBARD A
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31.

(d) Foreign currency risk management
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the reporting date is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2008

HE_ZZN\F=A=1T—HILFE

ERMIE (&)
(d) HMERBREE

ARAIBZ KB R RAINEHET
HERRKE DEAKE@ERIME

B

RBERH AKBIUAIINEFHEZ
ERBERERAB L REENT

Assets Liabilities
EE afE

2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENFE ZITT+F ZBENF ZITTLHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FiExT FAT
Canadian dollars mexr 3,994 1,894 - =
Chinese Renminbi AR 29,203 77,091 364,082 250,883
Euro BT - - 613 370
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)

Foreign currency risk management (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of
Canadian dollars, Chinese Renminbi and Euro.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% increase and decrease in the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity
rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and
represents management’'s assessment of the
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the period end for a 5% change
in foreign currency rates. A positive (negative)
number indicates an increase (decrease) in profit
or decrease (increase) in loss where the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities weakens
against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 5%
strengthening of the functional currencies against
the relevant foreign currencies, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-TT/\FZA=+—BILFE

EMIE (&)
(d) SMERREE (HE)

S SRR
AEETEERINERMEKNT
AR R -

TRFLATASERBEERZ D8
BERAARANEHEREZENSEA
EEZHRE - 5%AMAEEE
2 A B IE SN E R B B BT E A 2 8
RELLXR - NERERIIEER 2
ATRERLAIERTMS - BMBEDITE
BRERABNIINEFEZERER
YRR ZNEREAERE
X-TH (B2 RTHEREEE
BEEBLARINELREE
Beem A 2 R D) B R 2R
DOEM) - HEBEBEER 2
SR EAEIMNETHESS 58 HE
MEBEREKNERZAETE

Profit or loss

A E R
2008 2007
—EENF e e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiET FAT
Canadian dollars MmEXT 190 90
Chinese Renminbi AREE (15,947) (8,276)
Euro BT (29) (18)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is only an estimation but not representative of the
foreign exchange risk inherent in the financial assets
and financial liabilities as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

EEERAR HRFERMAXZ
RRIERRZFEAZEAR &
UBREIMEEREERSREA
B E A 2 5ME R B R BB {4 5118 3 &
&M -

RATLXEEAR A A
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings (see note
23 for details of these borrowings).

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments including bank
balances and borrowings, at the balance sheet
date and the stipulated change taking place at the
beginning of the financial year and held constant
throughout the reporting period in the case of
instruments that have floating rates. A 50 basis point
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
possible change in interest rate.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

e loss for the year ended 31 March 2008 would
increase/decrease by HK$3,714,000 (2007:
profit for the year would decrease/increase by
HK$2,645,000). This is mainly attributable to
the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable rate bank balances and borrowings.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has
increased during the current year mainly due to the
increase in variable rate debt instruments.

Credit risk management

The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk
that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts
in full when due. It arises primarily from the Group’s
trade and other receivables. Impairment allowances
are made for losses that have been incurred at the
balance sheet date.
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3. €@MIA (&)
(e) MEERER

AEBEREHFRBRITEEFEHZ
EFREZHE iMTEZS)*HE%ZfEﬁ

ERS]

/miﬂiﬂ

INTHREA MR ITETA (R
BRITERREE) REERAER
Z A R E K L‘A&E’\Eﬁﬂlifgﬁaﬁﬁ‘*
HERELEHR (FRAFHE
aﬁ%ZIﬂ)ﬁé%‘ﬂ#ﬁ%,ﬂﬂF‘aﬂWM—
BA R B REE - 50EFL 2 R
TREEEEZER A S ERNXRE
Bebspr A BNERER A X2 AT A
B PT1ERTM ©

%ﬂwiﬂ/T%mg%*ﬁﬁm
SBHHRENE  BIREH :

e HBE_ZTZNF=ZA=+—H
FtFEEZEEBE N, B
3,714,000 T (Z 2T £ F :
FE R AR 4 18 502,645,000

BL) cMETBRERAEERZ
FRIBITHEBREERAER
Z'E_\Hﬁ/\/s

AEENRGBERETFEALTT
TEANFEEB T RIEMAER -

FERBER
AEBEEHEEERR ZARER
SHHNEBR RN 28KEA
TRELEAREZEREES RE
KRR REEHELZERE
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f)

Credit risk management (Continued)

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations as at 31 March 2008 in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
balance sheet after deducting any impairment
allowance.

In respect of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, in order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at
each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced. Further quantitative disclosure
in respect of the group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from trade and other receivables are set out
in note 20.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties and customers.

Except for the financial guarantees given by
the Company for certain bank facilities of its
subsidiaries, the Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group or the
Company to credit risk.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
E_EENFZA=+—HLEE

3. EWMIA(E)

(f)

FERBEE (&)
AEEFEHZBEAEERRAR
REBHAREBRTHEEL BER
—EENFZR=T-HZEAE]
ERBERLMASECHIATRE
ENRRERBRZEE -

/

RAKEZE SR EMERRRM
FOREBEEREGEERR A&E
ERECZK—AABEREH(E
ERE EERHRHMEEER
JA B OR BR B R A 45 B U (21 8 B R
ZEFE- W REEER  A&H
eHEERENEZER KM
SR AEEATAKE S EAE
L REBBEERB-RUME -
ARFEEZRARAKEZEERR
EXERE - ERASEERKE
HREMBYEREL ZERERAR
ZE—TEBCRBEEHNMEE 20

MR ZBHREBEREEFEK
BAIRSEETRZRIT BRD
BeZEERRAR -

AEBZEERBRABNARERS
BHEMEP L MAKEYEEAX
SRZIEERR -

BRARBAEKMBLRZE TR
EEMELZHABERN NEHE
VTEEHEEAREL AR AEY
EERR ZEREMER -

BRAOLEZEBEER A A
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31,
(9)

For the year ended 31 March 2008
: ZENF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. £@ITE (&)
Liquidity risk management (9) "BELRRERE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group EEEBERHELRRE  KAEBRE
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash REEEHEEEERAAA B IR R
equivalents deemed adequate by the management HeZEEE UEAKEBE Z ¥
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate BIREEES WRHEBRSTERS
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The HE - EREERRITEEZD
management monitors the utilisation of bank BER UERBETERZLZR
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan F o AEBKBHRTEEIEAERXR
covenants. The Group relies on bank borrowings as REEL KR -
a significant source of liquidity.
Liquidity and interest risk tables B E % R T R 5
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining TERHAWAREBIETESRAEZ
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial BTANBNEBBER ZEHKRTIE
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on BASEHERER 2XFERABHM
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities BT S aGE it RR e RE
based on the earliest date on which the Group can MEE - ZERNEEAENAREE Y
be required to pay. Such non-derivative financial ETECRBEREFEHNEMESE
liabilities outstanding at the balance sheet date are EHAEE WREEFNBEEAS
considered as if outstanding for the whole year. The 2HERE -
table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
Total  Carrying
undiscounted amount
0-60 61180 181365 12 23 QOver cash at
days days days years years 3 years flows ~ 31.03.2008
FER N-EENE
Re%8 ZA=1-H
0608  6180F  181-365R 12F 238 3ENL ag  JkEE
HK$000  HK§000  HK$O000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000  HK§000  HK$'000
Thr Thn Thn TAT Thn Fin Thn Tin
2008 ZBENE
Non-derivative FiTEeRER
financial liabilities
Trade and other BARAENES
payables 307,749 120 - - - - 307,869 307869
Obligations under BERE A
finance leases 210 540 3,534 2,806 835 129 8,114 7751
Bank loans RIER 16,521 37222 165,258 87660 253,563 24579 584803 512,493
Trust receipt loans ERNESS 20788 16422 - - - - 26210 224807
Discounted bills §R2E 95,386 6,745 - - - - 02181 101,780
629,714 61,049 168,792 90466 254,398 24708 1229127 1,154,700
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(9)

For the year ended 31 March 2008
(S E—EENF=A=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31 @I A (&)
Liquidity risk management (Continued) (9) RBESAKER (&)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued) BB L RFEREpE (&)
Total  Carrying
undiscounted amount
0-60 61-180  181-365 122 2-3 Over cash at
days days days years years 3 years flows ~ 31.03.2007
FHR NZETLE
BénE ZA=T-8
0608 611808  181-365R 126 23 3ENE B8 (BAE
HKS000  HK§000  HK$O00  HKS000  HKS000  HK§000  HKS000  HK$'000
Thr Tén Thn  TEr TR TEn  TEr  TiEn
2007 ZBRLE
Non-derivative FiEeHER
financial liabilities
Trade and other B AR AR
payables 367,585 18311 - - - - 358% 38589
Obligations under BERERA
finance leases 200 399 2,218 2817 1630 - 7,384 6,713
Bank loans RITEH 28,229 .99 122205 183711 117,121 55,095 504290 452,828
Trust recelpt loans [FRAESR 168764 10,354 - - - - 179118 177,760
Discounted hills ¥RZE 77,308 - - - - - 77,308 76,929
642,086 56,998 124483 156588 118751 55,09 1,153,996 1,100,126

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions as inputs.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

(h)

EMIAZAFE

TREENERABIAFERD
RZEBEANATMERTHIGR
GZERETZHEARSREDN

MEE °

EERA REBEKALEREAR
BBk EREERERAEBLZ
REELEEAR A FERE -

BROATXZEEERAA
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32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been
pledged to secure certain bank and other borrowings of

the Group (see note 23):

For the year ended 31 March 2008

HE-_ZTT N\F-A=1T—HLEFE

32. EERH

TIHEREECEECSHFLER REE
EETRITREMEEREER (RHE
23) :

2008 2007

—EBEEN\F TETAF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FiET FAET

Investment properties REYE 166,877 210,619
Property, plant and M - BERE

equipment 238,871 79,324

Land use rights T Hb{F AR 47,831 43,786

453,579 333,729

In addition, the Group’s obligations under finance leases
(see note 24) are secured by the lessors’ title to the
leased assets with a carrying amount of HK$11,856,000

(2007: HK$8,252,000).

At 31 March 2008, the trade receivables of a designated
customer amounted to approximately HK$13,950,000
(2007: Nil) have been pledged to a bank for certain

facilities granted to the Group.

N AEBRBERN BT (RHE
24) 2 AERE{E 411,856,000 7T (=&
T+ 18,252,000 70) CHEEEZH
TAAFEREREER -

RZZBEENE=R=1+—B BEEXF2Z
JEUE 5 TE413,950,0008 T (Z 2=
+tE:E)BERTROTEALNEEER
HTREZER-

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS BAREE
2008 2007
“EENF —ET+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FHIT
Capital expenditure in BRI ERRERE I
respect of the acquisition HhEBELBEYE
of property, plant and Rz R EE AR
equipment contracted for
but not provided in the
consolidated financial
statements 5,928 9,884
Capital expenditure in ERERRETNCEE
respect of the acquisition ME - BERBBEEAR
of property, plant and Sun
equipment authorised but
not contracted for - 1,069
5,928 10,953
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For the year ended 31 March 2008

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by
the Group for certain building premises and machineries.
Leases are negotiated for an average term of two years.

BE_TT\F=A=1+—RILFE
34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 34, EEBAEIE
As lessor EREHEA
At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with NEEH AEBEBEFE M N RAKHx
tenants for the following future minimum lease payments: RESFTL
2008 2007
—EZN\F —TTAEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TET
Within one year —FR 11,337 10,910
In the second to fifth year BE_FEFRF
inclusive (BREEREME) 17,630 19,299
After five years HF® 2,324 3,498
31,291 33,707
Leases are negotiated for an average term of three years. TR T RREREER - EH B A=F -
As lessee ERABA
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments NEER  KREBREFTERLEMEE
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable BERTNESRE R Ay ELa
operating leases in respect of building premises and BENZ RRSERSWOT :
other assets falling due:
2008 2007
—EENEF —TTLEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Within one year —FER 1,402 2,916
In the second to fifth year F_FEERF
inclusive (BHREEME) 903 1,863
After five years AF% 3,656 3,759
5,961 8,538

REBNFERAKEREE TETRE
PNz e BAODKERE
B FEEBAME -

BROATXZEEERAA
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

During the year, the Group entered into the following
significant transactions with related parties in the

ordinary course of business:

For the year ended 31 March 2008

HE_ZZN\F=A=1T—HILFE

35. BHEALRS

(a) "EEEFANEEHEALTERR
EBBEPEETATEARS :

2008 2007
“EENE —TTAE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 THET THT
Rental expense paid to INTXECEERAF
Man Fat Enterprise Company ZHAEHZ
Limited - 225
Legal and professional fees SR THRE EREHET
paid to Andrew Lam & Co. LEEREXER - 305
Purchases from RER
Sun Bright Investments Limited GRRERRAA (i) - 5,650
Sun Bright Industrial Paints BH (5R) 2RHE%

Limited BRAF (i) - 1,745

Rental income from REBH (BR) 2HHA%
Sun Bright Industrial Paints BARARZASKA

Limited (i - 148

Sub-contracting income from REEX (BRK) B
Wah Mei (Lui’s) Industrial BRAR([#EX])

Limited (“Wah Mei”) ZITRA (ii) 298 =
Sales to Wah Mei HETEX (ii) 607 =
Subcontracting fee paid to TRTEEZ

Wah Mei MIER (ii) 309
Purchase from Wah Mei REBZEX (ii) 2 -
Sales to Qingyuan Regent HETERBRER

International Hotel KBE (iiif) 53 =
Hotel expenses and other expenses X {1 FERERER

paid to Qingyuan Regent NBEE 2 BERS

International Hotel REMBAZ (iii) 353 =
Brokerage and trading fee XN TFEREFER AR

paid to Metro Capital LREREEER

Securities Limited (iv) 25 -
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(Continued)
Notes:

(i)  For the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group made
purchases with and received rental income from an
associate and a subsidiary of the associate, namely,
Sun Bright Investments Limited and Sun Bright
Industrial Paints Limited respectively.

(i) Wah Mei is a company controlled by the father-in-law
and mother-in-law of Mr. Lam Shing Ngai, director of
the Company.

(i) Qingyuan Regent International Hotel is indirectly
controlled by a discretionary trust for Dr. Lam Man
Chan (the Chairman and director of the Company).
Ms. Ting Lai Ling and Mr. Lam Shing Ngai and other
family members of Dr. Lam and Ms. Ting are the
beneficiary objects of the discretionary trust. Four
directors of the Company, namely, Dr. Lam Man Chan,
Ms. Ting Lai Ling, Mr. Lam Shing Ngai and Mr. Yeung
Cheuk Kwong are directors of the hotel.

(iv) Metro Capital Securities Limited is a licensed
corporation for type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
and is 50% indirectly interested by Dr. Lam Man
Chan, the Chairman and director of the Company.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of members of key management

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE—EEN\F=A=1+—AILFE

35. AREALRS (&)

(a) (&)
Hiat -

() BE_ZZLF=A=+—HIF
B AEEA-—FEEARLREE
REZMBLRE (DRRGHAKRE
BERLAKGH(ER) 2HHEESR
RAE)ETRBRKBRES -

(i) FEXD—FKBMARFAEFEMARSL
EZEXREGES 2 AT -

(i) FEREREEREXDEBMNEE L+
(RARFEERES) N EHEETH
BEEGl e TBR LT  MEARLE
ARMIETRT 2+ 2 HthREK
BAZHEGHEZZ®EA - ARAN
REZ(DRIANREEREL TE
R&rL MEAREERBERTE)
RZBIEZESE -

(iv) XSFFERAAD —RBEES
FHEGITRES-—H(EERE
F)XREERDZFEREE B
RALTERETMEB LREE
FEOZETH#E -

(b) ETEEEAEZFH M
ARAEENIZEREREKXE

other than the directors of the Company are as ZE£ T
follows:
2008 2007
—EENFE —ET+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
Basic salaries and EARgGe REM
allowance 2,855 4,124
Contributions to RIRAERET B X
retirement benefit
scheme 24 17
Share-based payments LARR {7 B E R 2 5% 68 —
2,947 4,141

The remuneration of the directors of the Company
are disclosed in note 10.

ARAREZMENHEI0KE -

BRAOITEEEBRER A A
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For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TTN\E=-A=1+—AHLLEFE

36. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 36. #EH®BEE
On 4 July 2008, a subsidiary of the Company entered R-ZZZNFLANB KRR —XKKBE

37.

into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose of one of
the Group’s factory premises located in Dongguan, PRC.
Currently, the premises are used for investment purposes
and for the Group’s manufacturing facilities which are
classified as investment properties and property, plant
and equipment respectively. Details of the transactions
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 9
July 2008.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
March 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

37.

RAFVEEHANLERAEEE R
RABRZEZHE - B ZFEMIA
FRERBRIERAREZEERE 2
BIBIEIREME AR E - BFE K&RE -
BRAXSGZFBERARABHAE-F
ENFLANBZ R -

HEA
R-TENFR_FTLF=A=+—
A ARAZEEKBARSENT -

Percentage of
nominal value of

Nominal value issued share
Place of of issued capital/registered
incorporation/ Place of ordinary share/ capital held by
Name of subsidiary registration operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
AAARE
BRITRE/
R/ BRITERR/ EMER
WELAREH b g i AfRAEE HEZAAL  IEEH
Denca Industrial Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100 Trading of electronic
SHEEBERDA BE BA 2B products
BHETED
Din Wai Electronics Limited British Virgin PRC US$2 100 Manufacturing of
Islands 2% electronic products
ABRBRES E HEETER
Dongguan Fenggang Ngai Lik PRC PRC HK$24,500,000 87" Manufacturing of
Electronics Company i i 24,500,000 7 electronic products
Limited (Note (a)) HEETER
RERRBENETERAR
(W (@)
Zhong Yi (Qing Yuan) PRC PRC HK$135,373,358 100 Manufacturing of
Electronics Plastic Metal HE i 135,373,358/ T electronic products

Company Limited (Note (b))
BROER)ETERLE
BRAR (frit (b))
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For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE_TEN\FZA=+—HLEFE

37. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. MiBAE (&)

Percentage of
nominal value of

Nominal value issued share
Place of of issued capital/registered
incorporation/ Place of ordinary share/ capital held by
Name of subsidiary registration operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
SNGiEEY)
BRIRE/
R/ BRITERR/ AER
WEBLFER b g Fens AfBRAEE HEZAL TEXH
Faithful Lion Limited Hong Kong PRC HK$10,000 100 Property investment
BRERAT B E 10,0007 WERE
Junestar Pacific Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 Investment holding
KEAFEERAA &k &b 10,000/ ¢ REZR
Kin Ngai Industrial Limited Samoa PRC US$10 100 Leasing of plant and
BHREEERAT BED i 10X machineries
lii TG
Million Age Enterprise Limited Hong Kong PRC HK$10,000 100 Property investment
EFtRCRARAT i i 10,0007 7 NERE
Ngai Lik (BVI) Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$10,000 100 Investment holding
Islands Islands 10,000%7 REER
AEABRES ABABRES
Ngai Lk Capital Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 Provision of financial
BNBEERAR M B 10,00087C services
A B IR
Ngai Lik Electronics Trading Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 Trading of electronic
Limited B BE 10,0007 products
BNETEHBRAA REEFED
Ngai Lik Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100* Provision of
RNEBRAR B i 3,000,000 7T management and
logistics services
RALETE KRR
Ngai Lik Mobile Electronics Hong Kong Hong Kongand ~ HK$10,000 100 Trading and
Limited % PRC 10,0007 T manufacturing of
BNREEFERAR FAED car audio products
BEREERE
52Em
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For the year ended 31 March 2008

HE_ZZN\F=A=1T—HILFE

37. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. ME AR (%)

Percentage of
nominal value of

Nominal value issued share
Place of of issued capital/registered
incorporation/ Place of ordinary share/ capital held by
Name of subsidiary registration operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
SAGiEEY)
BRIRE/
B/ BRITERR/ EfER
WELARER b g Fens AMBRAEE HEZADL TEXH
Ngai Lik Properties Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100 Property investment
BRIERRAR A i 2B WERE
Ngai Lik Trading (Macao Macau Macau MOP1,000,000 100 Trading of electronic
Commercial Offshore) BP9 pds 1,000,000 products
Limited BHETEM
#0185 (RPEREXRE)
ERAT
Ngai Wai Plastic Manufacturing British Virgin PRC US$1 100 Manufacturing of
Limited Islands H %7 plastic components
ABAARES HEBRAM
Pascal Investment Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 1007 Investment holding
BEERAARAT i BE 28T RERER
Shing Wai Limited British Virgin PRC US$1 100 Manufacturing of
Islands i 1ET electrical and
RBERRES mechanical
components
HEEER
ML
* Interest held by the Company through subsidiaries. * KRFEBNE R B e
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37. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Dongguan Fenggang Ngai Lik Electronics Company
Limited (“DFNL"), a sino-foreign joint venture in the PRC,
was established by the Group with an independent third
party. Since the signing of an agreement in the prior year,
the Group is entitled to all the net profits arising from
the operation of DFNL after the payment of certain fixed
amounts to the independent third party. The Group is
also entitled to all the assets and responsible for all the
liabilities of DFNL other than the amount contributed by the
independent third party.

The subsidiary is set up as wholly-owned foreign
investment enterprise registered in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at 31 March 2008 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Board, principally affected the
results or assets of the Group. To give details of all other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

For the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_TZ \F=A=1T—HILFE

37. MBARE (&)
ES

(a)

REBEBRNEFAERARF (DFNL]) &
AEBR-—ZBIFE=TNPEMKILZ
PO ERELE -BREREFRITZ
B AEREARNKEABIE=TX
8 TEERIAK 2 EZADFNLE & %
BREEZEN BBUFE=7 KA
RSN NEE A FH RAFEDFNLZ Fr
BEENGME-

el = NGBS AV & T
BEEREDRE-

MENBARAEENR_ZTNF=A
St -HARARFEEMEBINAEX
ZEBES

EXRBINARARZHMBAR  EFRR
ZEAATENEARBEZREREE -
ExeRRBIMEREMMBARZF
BRREERFERITE

ROTIXEEER QA
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

e/ ]
hEMEHRE2
Year ended 31 March
HE=A=t—-HLFE
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
—EENE ZETLEF ZETRE —TERF —EEMF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FET FHT FHIT THT
RESULTS S5
Turnover EHER 3,086,972 3,654,926 2,843,345 3,417,581 3,299,447
(Loss) profit before  BR&E AT (E518)
taxation gl (157,414) 35,703 24,242 64,785 261,074
Taxation BiIA 20,863 (22,621) (11,104) (4,557) (15,910)
(Loss) profit for FE(BE)
the year gl (136,551) 13,082 13,138 60,228 245,164
Attributable to: THIALFEL
Equity holders of NG
the Company A A (136,551) 13,082 13,138 60,228 245,168
Minority interests DYIR R - = = - (4)
(136,551) 13,082 13,138 60,228 245,164
As at 31 March
R=B=+—8H
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
—EENE —TELF —ETREF —ETRF —TEMF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FHET FHT TET
ASSETS AND EERERE
LIABILITIES
Total assets BELE 2,219,737 2,328,924 2,263,683 2,132,801 2,014,105
Total liabilities BERE (1,281,756)  (1,248,045)  (1,189,719)  (1,064,626) (912,160)
937,981 1,080,879 1,073,964 1,068,175 1,101,945
Equity attributable AN/NC]
to equity holders RmFaA
of the Company e R = 933,961 1,076,859 1,069,944 1,064,155 1,097,925
Minority interests DEHREER 4,020 4,020 4,020 4,020 4,020
937,981 1,080,879 1,073,964 1,068,175 1,101,945
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. Lam Man Chan (Chairman)
Ms. Ting Lai Ling

Ms. Ting Lai Wah

Mr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong

Mr. Lam Shing Ngai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Chi Yeung, Simon

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Mr. Ho Lok Cheong

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Yeung Cheuk Kwong

JOINT AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Graham H.Y.Chan & Co.

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited

Agricultural Bank of China

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Citic Ka Wah Bank Limited

Chinatrust Commercial Bank, Limited

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

Bank of Communication Bank

DBS Bank

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
(Asia) Limited
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Corporate Information 2 7] & %}

PRINCIPAL REGISTRARS FTEROBFELRE

Butterfield Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited Butterfield Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
11 Rosebank Centre, Bermudiana Road, 11 Rosebank Centre, Bermudiana Road,
Hamilton, Bermuda. Hamilton, Bermuda

BRANCH REGISTRARS ROBFEELEDE

Tengis Limited EREEAR AT

26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, BEETERANER28R

Wanchai, Hong Kong. P 0261

REGISTERED OFFICE ERE =Y

Clarendon House, Church Street, Clarendon House, Church Street
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

HONG KONG PRINCIPAL OFFICE BERETEREZE

Flat 29-32, 8/F., Block B, Focal Industrial Centre, BEBNEAMREEF215

21 Man Lok Street, Hunghom, Kowloon. B LEHRLBEESIE29-32F

WEBSITE bl

www.ngailik.com www.ngailik.com
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